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GROUP STRUCTURE

S5 522 7

At 30 September 2024
R2024F9H30H
PARENT COMPANY
1SFNG
Melbourne Enterprises Limited
EARERRAT
Equity Holding Principal Activities
HRERDL FTEXER
SUBSIDIARY
MEARE
lau On Company Limited 100% Property investment
Rl YNG] MERE
ASSOCIATE
BENT]
Chuen King Enterprises Limited 50% Inactive
ERCEARAT E
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Mr. Wong Tak Wai
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Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick
Ms. Ling Kit Sum

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert

Mr. Lo Pak Shiu

Mr. Wong Tak Wai

Ms. Ling Kit Sum

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick, aged 80, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in December 1967 and became the
Chairman of the Company since 31 May 2023. He is a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and also
serves as a director of the subsidiary of the Company. He graduated
from Prince Alfred College in Australia and is a director of Aik San
Realty Limited, Fu Hop Investment Company Limited and Good
Earning Investment Company Limited. He is the brother of Mr. Chung
Wai Shu, Robert.

Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick, aged 53, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in April 2015. He is the co-chief executive
officer and executive director of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited.
Mr. Tsang is also the vice-chairman and executive director of i-CABLE
Communications Limited, an executive director of UMP Healthcare
Holdings Limited, and a non-executive director of Giordano
International Limited, SUM Holdings Limited and NWS Holdings
Limited. Mr. Tsang was a non-executive director of Greenheart
Group Limited and Integrated Waste Solutions Group Holdings
Limited, all being companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Tsang is also a governor
of Chow Tai Fook Charity Foundation, and the founder and director
of CTFE Social Solutions. Mr. Tsang holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Economics from Columbia College of Columbia University in New
York, USA.

Mr. Kenneth Lau, aged 48, was appointed as the alternate director
to Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick since 24 May 2019. He is the managing
principal of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited. He has been a non-
executive Director of Greenheart Group Limited, being a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, since 24 May 2022. He is also a
director of Yunnan Jinggu Forestry Co., Ltd., being a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Lau has over 20 years
of experience in corporate finance, real estate and private equity
investments. Prior to joining Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited,
he was the co-founder and managing director at Pinnacle Real
Estate Capital Partners Limited and the director in charge of China
acquisitions at Aetos Capital LLC. Mr. Lau also previously worked in
the Global Real Estate Group and the Investment Banking Division
of Lehman Brothers Asia Limited. He holds a Master of Engineering
degree from the University of Oxford in the United Kingdom.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEBN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert, aged 76, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in December 1975, became a Non-
Executive Director in June 1999 and was appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company on 31 May 2023. He is a member of
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee and also serves as a director of the subsidiary of the
Company. He is a director of Aik San Realty Limited, Fu Hop
Investment Company Limited and Good Earning Investment
Company Limited. He is the brother of Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick.

Mr. Wong Tak Wai, aged 67, was appointed as Non-Executive
Director of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee on
31 May 2023. Mr. Wong was a partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers
from 1992 to 2017. He is a Fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Australia and New Zealand.
He was the President of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in 2002. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in
accounting, auditing and corporate finance and holds a Bachelor of
Commerce at the University of Otago in New Zealand.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Pak Shiu, aged 70, was appointed as Executive Director of
the Company in March 1989 and redesignated as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company. He is a member of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
He is also a director of Foo Hang Jewellery Limited.

Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick, aged 67, is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising) and a fellow of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Yuen has extensive experience in accounting and
corporate finance and is currently a practising director of Kingston
CPA Limited. He was appointed as Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in September 2004. He is the Chairman
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEBN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (cont'd)

Ms. Ling Kit Sum, aged 70, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company on 31 May 2023. She is a member
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. Ms. Ling is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) and
is a retired assurance partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers. Ms. Ling is
an independent non-executive director of Raymond Industrial Limited,
EVA Precision Industrial Holdings Limited, Arta TechFin Corporation
Limited and ENM Holdings Limited. In addition, she was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Chinney Kin Wing Holdings
Limited on 2 December 2024. Ms. Ling was also an independent
non-executive director of Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited
(November 2017 — June 2021) and Wise Ally International Holdings
Limited (December 2019 — June 2023). All these companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Ling is a council
member and the treasurer of The Education University of Hong Kong.
She is a member of the Advisory Board of Hong Kong Institute of
Information Technology of Vocational Training Council. Ms. Ling is a
council member of The Hong Kong Federation of Youth Groups and
has been its honorary secretary since 18 October 2024, an executive
committee member of Hong Kong Youth Hostels Association and an
independent manager of the incorporated management committee of
Ng Yuk Secondary School. Ms. Ling was a board member of Estate
Agents Authority (November 2015 — October 2021) and Employees
Compensation Assistance Fund Board (July 2006 — June 2012).
She also served as a member of Hospital Governing Committee
of Hospital Authority (April 2015 — March 2022) and a member of
Appeal Board Panel (Town Planning) (October 2016 — September
2022). Ms. Ling is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, and a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. She is an accredited general mediator of the Hong
Kong Mediation Accreditation Association Limited. Ms. Ling has
extensive experience in accounting, auditing, due diligence and
initial public offerings, and holds a Diploma in Accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) and a Master of Science in Corporate Governance and
Directorship (Distinction) from the Hong Kong Baptist University.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Various businesses and functions of the Company are respectively
under the direct responsibilities of the Executive Directors who are
regarded as senior management of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors present their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year
ended 30 September 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are property investment
and investment holding in Hong Kong. The principal activities of
the subsidiary and associate are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 73. A commentary on annual results is included in the “Directors’
Business Review” on page 36.

An interim dividend of HK$1.80 per share was paid in July 2024,
totalling HK$45,000,000. The Directors recommend the payment of a
final dividend of HK$1.8 per share, totalling HK$3.6.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 30 September
2024, as well as further discussion and analysis as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)
(“Companies Ordinance”) are provided throughout this annual report,
particularly in the sections headed “Directors’ Business Review”
on page 36, “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages
37 to 38, “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 20 to 35 and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 39 to 64
of this annual report. These discussions form part of this Directors’
Report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 132.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 September 2024,
calculated under Part 6 of Companies Ordinance, amounted to
HK$219,183,000 (2023: HK$207,055,000).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick (Mr. Kenneth Lau as his alternate)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert
Mr. Wong Tak Wai

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Pak Shiu

Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony (retired with effect from 1 March 2024)
Ms. Ling Kit Sum

In accordance with Article 103(A) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick, Mr. Lo Pak Shiu and Mr.
Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM”) to be held on 17 January 2025 and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. Chung Yin
Shu, Frederick and Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert were also directors
in the subsidiary of the Company. Other director of the Company’s
subsidiary during the year was Mr. Lo Ka Chung (passed away on 26
July 2024).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in note 25 of the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or Company’s subsidiary was a party and in which a Director of the
Company or any entities connected with a Director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS (cont'd)

No loan was made during the financial year to the Company’s
Directors or officers or body corporate controlled by them either by
the Company or by its subsidiary or by a third party on the security or
guarantee of the Company or its subsidiary.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing connected transactions during the financial year are set
out below:

On 25 July 2022, the Company as lessor and Fu Hop Investment
Company Limited (“Fu Hop”) as lessee entered into a lease
agreement (the “Lease Agreement”), pursuant to which the lessee
leased Rooms 2401-2411 on 24th floor of Melbourne Plaza, 33
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong (the “Fu Hop Premises”) from the
lessor for a fixed term of two years from 1 August 2022 to 31 July
2024 at a monthly rental of HK$258,792 with monthly air-conditioning
charges and management fees of HK$42,920.

The Lease Agreement was renewed on 22 July 2024 for a fixed
term of two years from 1 August 2024 to 31 July 2026 at a monthly
rental of HK$258,792 with monthly air-conditioning charges and
management fees of HK$46,708.

The Fu Hop Premises, the subject of the above lease agreements,
is owned by the Company. Approximately 99.99% of the shares
of Fu Hop forms part of the estate of the late Mr. Chung Ming Fai
(the former Chairman and Executive Director), and the remaining
approximately 0.01% of the shares of Fu Hop are held equally
amongst Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick (an Executive Director), Mr.
Chung Wai Shu, Robert (a Non-Executive Director), and Mr. Chung
Kin Shu, Kenneth. As the late Mr. Chung Ming Fai, Mr. Chung Yin
Shu, Frederick, Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert and Mr. Chung Kin Shu,
Kenneth are all family members who together own all the shares
in Fu Hop, Fu Hop is an associate of each of Mr. Chung Yin Shu,
Frederick and Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert. Accordingly, Fu Hop is a
connected person of the Company and the entering into the above
lease agreements and all the transactions contemplated thereunder
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and are subject to
announcement, reporting and annual review requirements but exempt
from shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

As set out in the announcements of the Company dated 25 July
2022 and 22 July 2024, the annual cap under the previous and the
new lease agreements for the year ended 30 September 2024 and
under the new lease agreement for each of the two years ending 30
September 2025 and 2026 were HK$3,720,000, HK$3,800,000 and
HK$3,200,000, respectively.

The total consideration received from Fu Hop during the year
ended 30 September 2024 under the above lease agreements
amounted to HK$3,629,000 which did not exceed the annual cap of
HK$3,720,000.

The continuing connected transactions mentioned above have
been reviewed by the Independent Non-Executive Directors of the
Company who have confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into:

(@ inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transaction in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The independent auditor has
issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions
in respect of the abovementioned continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 30 September 2024 is disclosed in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements. The transactions entered
into with Kin Fung Hong Limited and Dedicare Limited in respect of
rental and related income on lease of investment properties, and Fu
Hop in respect of provision of meal to employees of the Group, as
described in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements also
constitute continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
However, they are exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements because they are below de
minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following
Directors are considered to have interests in the following businesses
which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group other than those businesses
where the Directors of the Company were appointed as directors to
represent the interests of the Company and/or the Group pursuant to
the Listing Rules as set out below:

Name of entity which businesses are

KEREXRS (5)

EBAEE2024F9A308 IHFEFIL 2
BEALRGZHEEBERGE P FRRM T
25 HEBITEZHERARRBCAERA
AEETTZ BRI EMERS RABKRAZR
5 REESETZAEBASEEIERSE
2R 5 (WERE B ISR R M 25 ATt ) on
BRETRAUNEETHHEBERS] - A
i ARZEXZHE ETHRAIE14A 761578
THRERBEHEN - FAEHRRETEEAR
RitbE FEEMARITEEERT

EERNEFRE P 2ER

RAFERRBEARE BB - RAAT
TEFEEEREMES 2 EFUREAR
AR/ HARE RIS - R TR
TR FRR RS THIRAREESEE
SR A E T BT 2 £
3% - BB

Description of
businesses of the
entity which are Nature of

considered to compete interest of

considered to compete or likely to or likely to compete the Director

Name of Director compete with the businesses of the Group with the Group in the entity
BWRAEREE XK =Y

HERBRDRLEEERBRRT BEBFATVEER  ZEEZ
EE¥ A HAEBRSRE CERARE e BREY BHME
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick Aik San Realty Limited group of companies Property investment Director
EBEELLE AMEXERLAREE MERE %

Fu Hop Property investment Director

2R MERE =

Good Earning Investment Company Limited Property investment Director

SRNEXARAA NERE =
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES (cont’d)

Name of entity which businesses are
considered to compete or likely to

EERNHFREH 2ER(E)

Description of

businesses of the
entity which are Nature of
considered to compete

or likely to compete

interest of
the Director

Name of Director compete with the businesses of the Group with the Group in the entity
BWRAEREEER =Y
HEBBARRLEBXRBRART BEBFATEERN ZEEZ
EE¥ A HAEBRGRE  ERARE BEBRZEY BEHME
Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert Aik San Realty Limited group of companies Property investment Director
EEELE AMEXERLAREE MERE =
Fu Hop Property investment Director
A MERE 3
Good Earning Investment Company Limited Property investment Director
SRNEXABRAA MERE 3
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited group of companies  Property investment Director
BRERE BARBREFERLAAEE WERE BF

As the Board of Directors of the Company is independent of the
boards of these entities, the Group is therefore capable of carrying
on such business independently of, and at arm’s length from the
businesses of these entities.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year was the Company or its subsidiary
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors (including their
spouses or children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
or its subsidiary that is not determinable by the Group within one
year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

ERREEARDE —T_NFFR

ARREZRNVEUNZEERCE
MR BA L BI IR NP EEEITHE
% e

ESTBROTESF 2T H

ARARREMBRRRAFRE AL E2EE
Az EERNER(BRESZEMBIR
mt N\ F ) EEBEBARRBREMAT]
Z B BT e o

EERBEN

PIAEEEIRE BARAHEKBERRET L
NI HARER —FRR LM BAEEE
CEERBERINWIRBEL
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 September 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Aggregate Long Positions in Shares and Underlying

EEzERS

MR2024F9H30R + ARBEERARR K
HEEMAEEZE(ERRLBSRAEKRIE
XVER) KR 0 MR D REHFFEELH
RARRIEZE S MR GROIEIS2G6ETIF
EMZRMANERIOAE  JIRELETE
TAEFETELFIZMWZESTA([1R%EST
Al AR AR AR MBI TEERIOA R A
T

RARXR 2RO REBRONESTE

Shares of the Company B
Approximate
Number of ordinary shares held percentage of
FEZEBRYA the total no.
Personal Corporate of issued
interests interests Total shares
fheHe
BiTRGHZ
Directors ] BAER LEER By HOEI
Mr. Chung Ming Fai (passed away on  $ERR#B 4L 4 (72202345 54 At )@ 12,000,500 1,000 12,001,500 48,01
4 May 2023)?
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick® EEELL 1,875 - 1,875 0.01
Notes: Bk -

(1)  The percentages were computed based on the total number of issued
shares of the Company as at 30 September 2024 (i.e. 25,000,000
ordinary shares).

(2)  The estate of Mr. Chung Ming Fai (deceased) was interested or deemed
to be interested in (i) 12,000,500 shares of the Company which were
held directly; and (i) 1,000 shares of the Company which were held by
Fu Hop. Such estate is entitled to exercise more than one-third of the
voting power at the general meetings of Fu Hop. Mr. Chung Yin Shu,
Frederick and Mr. Chung Kin Shu, Kenneth are the executors of the
estate of the late Mr. Chung Ming Fai, and accordingly they are deemed
to be interested in the aforesaid 12,001,500 shares of the Company as
executors of the estate of the late Mr. Chung Ming Fai.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (cont'd)

Apart from the above, as at 30 September 2024, no other interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any associated corporations as defined in the SFO
were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every Director is
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

The Directors’ liability insurance undertaken by the Company
provides such indemnities to all the Directors of the Company and its
subsidiary.

The relevant provisions in the Company’s Articles of Association and
the Directors’ liability insurance were in force during the financial year
ended 30 September 2024 and as of the date of approval of this
report.

ERREEARDE —T_NFFR

EEoRERZE)

Br_EataE AN - FR20245F9A30H » BFEEH

,EEEZK TYEH—H‘E w/j&.(ﬂi%%ﬁ %_‘&

HIE RG] ety - AR RESTES

/,JFETF 55 M B IGRDIE 35215 AE T FER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS TERRZER

As at 30 September 2024, the interests or short positions of RIEARR AL ES K E KM 336158 T
substantial shareholders (other than the Directors as disclosed above) 7FERZEiLMATE 0 TERE(fr LSS
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in 4N F202449 A30 A48 A Q8% & 18R
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as &3 EtEzSskA B 0T ¢

follows:

Aggregate Long Positions in Shares and Underlying RAERARZBRH REBERG ST

Shares of the Company 2
Approximate
Number of ordinary shares held percentage of
FEZERRYA the total no.
Beneficial Corporate of issued
interests interests Total shares
fhaHte
BiTRGHZ
Name of substantial shareholders TERE & BERER LEER By HoEs
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) - 6,731,250 6,731,250 26.93
Limited (“CYTF")@ Limited([ CYTF )@
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings Il) ~ Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) - 6,731,250 6,731,250 26.93
Limited (“CYTF II"/@ Limited([ CYTF Il )@
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited - 6,731,250 6,731,250 26.93
(“CTFC")@ ([CTFC))@
Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited BAARBER)AERAA(EAR - 6,731,250 6,731,250 26.93
(formerly known as Centennial 120 1) (A7 Centennial Success
Success Limited) (‘CTFH")2 Limited)?
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited ~ EARBHMEERAE) 2,981,250 3,750,000 6,731,250 26.93
(‘CTF)® (TAXBEE]
New World Development Company ¥t REEER A E) - 3,750,000 3,750,000 15.00
Limited (“NWD”)¢ (T3t RER O
Kin Kiu Enterprises, Limited (‘KK")® ~ BEAEERLA([BE])Y 3,750,000 - 3,750,000 15.00
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS (cont’d)

Aggregate Long Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company (cont’d)

Notes:

(1)

The percentages were computed based on the total number of issued
shares of the Company as at 30 September 2024 (i.e. 25,000,000
ordinary shares).

CYTF and CYTF Il held 48.98% and 46.65% interests in CTFC,
respectively. CTFC in turn owned 81.083% interest in CTFH which
held the entire interests in CTF. Therefore, CYTF, CYTF Il, CTFC and
CTFH were deemed to have interests in the shares in which CTF was
interested and deemed to be interested by virtue of its interests in NWD
as mentioned in note 3 below.

CTF and its subsidiaries had interests in more than one-third of the
issued shares of NWD and accordingly CTF was deemed to have an
interest in the shares in which NWD was deemed to be interested.

NWD held 100% direct interest in KK and was accordingly deemed to
have an interest in the shares interested by KK.

As disclosed in the Note (2) set out in the above section headed
“Directors’ Interests”, Mr. Chung Kin Shu, Kenneth is deemed to
be interested in 12,001,500 shares of the Company (representing
48.01% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as at
30 September 2024) as one of the executors of the estate of the late
Mr. Chung Ming Fai. In addition, Mr. Chung Kin Shu, Kenneth had a
beneficial interest in 652,625 shares of the Company (representing
2.61% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as at 30
September 2024), among which 639,625 shares were disposed of by
him subsequently.

Save as disclosed above, no other person (other than the Directors

whose interests are set out in the above section headed “Directors’

Interests”) had any interest or short positions in the shares or

underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO

or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange as
at 30 September 2024.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year
ended 30 September 2024. Neither the Company nor its subsidiary
has purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year
ended 30 September 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the financial year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information that is available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of the Company’s
shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares as at the date of this
report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue during the year attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers was 27%, of which 10% was derived from the
Group’s largest customer.

The aggregate purchases of revenue items during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers was 42%, of which
14% was made from the Group’s largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued shares) had an interest in the customers or
suppliers noted above.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established for the purpose of
reviewing and providing supervision on the Group’s financial reporting
process, risk management (including but not limited to business,
operation as well as environmental, social and governance related
risks) and internal controls. The results for the year have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee. The composition of the Audit
Committee is shown on page 3.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Chung Yin Shu, Frederick
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 December 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures to safeguard the interests of
the shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group. The
Company has fully complied with all the applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”) throughout the year ended 30
September 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C38 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of the Directors
of the Company, all the Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 30 September 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the management,
businesses, strategic directions and financial performance of the
Group. It is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, primarily the Listing Rules, the Companies
Ordinance and the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and for
developing, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to Directors and employees. The
Board holds regular meetings to discuss the Group’s businesses and
operations. All important issues are discussed in a timely manner.

The Board comprises seven Directors, with two Executive Directors,
two Non-Executive Directors and three Independent Non-Executive
Directors. Details of the composition of the Board are set out in the
section headed “Directors” in the Directors’ Report from pages 8 to
19 of this annual report. The biographies of the Directors, including
relationships among them, are set out in Management Profile from
pages 5 to 7 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ExER®E

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cont’d)

The Group recognises the importance of diversity as a contributor
to Board effectiveness and the long-term success of the Group.
Diversity provides the Board with a wider knowledge base and brings
in new insights and perspectives, which improve decision-making
and ability to adapt to new business challenges. The Group aims at
ensuring that the Board and senior management always have the
necessary diversity of skills and attributes required to oversee and
govern in the ever-changing operating environment.

Board members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy and
candidates will be considered against measurable objectives, taking
into account the Company’s business and needs. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria, including
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and experience. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and the contribution that the selected
candidates may bring to the Board. Similar considerations are used
in achieving gender diversity in the workforce.

Ms. Ling Kit Sum has been appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director with effect from 31 May 2023. The Board believes
that it currently has the appropriate diversity to give balanced and
wide-ranging considerations on matters deliberated at the Board
level. The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of female
representation and may adjust the proportion of female directors over
time as and when appropriate.

As at 30 September 2024, a 7:7 male to female gender ratio has
been achieved in the workforce (including senior management).
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MECHANISM IN ACCESSING INDEPENDENT VIEWS
AND INPUT

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information in
relation to the Company’s business and to make further enquiries.
All Directors also have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary for ensuring that board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. Proper meeting
arrangements and procedures are in place to facilitate open and
constructive discussions and thorough consideration of relevant
issues. Coupled with balanced Board composition which consists of
three Independent Non-Executive Directors out of seven Directors,
the Company has always ensured independent views and input are
available to the Board. All Directors also have full access to senior
management and independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, where necessary, in a confidential manner, to enable
them to discharge their duties. The Board reviewed that the relevant
mechanism is effective.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction covering the business and operations of the
Company and the statutory and regulatory obligation of a director
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. All
Directors are provided with timely updates on the Company’s
performance, financial position and prospects, briefings and
professional development necessary to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, all Directors
are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
activities to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Board reviews and monitors the training and continuous professional
development of Directors from time to time.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING (cont’d)

In addition to attending meetings and review of relevant materials
in relation to the Group’s business and financial matters provided
by senior executives, the Directors have also attended an in-house
training session in relation to latest development of ESG organized by
the Company during the financial year. The training attended by the
current Directors during the financial year under review is as follows:

B

BRHFeRMEHHRSRITRABRKEH
REBEBLMBERIN  EENMBEFE
A TR2EAR R BIREH —RAEIFIIRIE -
AP RERE H g RERNRNER - 1
APFRFER - REZEF2EIFHINBE R
T

Reading materials

Attending in- relevant to the

house training/ Company or its

briefing/seminar business

HE RSN, BRI EE A A AR

Name of Director BEEFTH BNE B HEBEBHER

Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick EEELE Vv Vv

Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick BRERE Vv Vv

Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert EEELE Vv Vv

Mr. Wong Tak Wai HiEEEAE Vv Vv

Mr. Lo Pak Shiu EiRBELE Vv Vv

Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick Bri5eR 4 Vv vV

Ms. Ling Kit Sum FERMNI L Vv Vv
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FHMITES

Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-Executive
Directors) serve the relevant function of bringing independent
judgement on the development, performance and risk management
of the Group. The Non-Executive Directors are not appointed for a
specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company. Article 103(A) of the
Articles of Association of the Company provides that at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors (including Independent
Non-Executive Directors) for the time being (or if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years pursuant to the CG Code.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (cont’d)

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from all the Independent Non-Executive Directors in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the
Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

The retirement and re-election of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors at the forthcoming AGM has been reviewed by the
Nomination Committee and further details are set out in the section
headed “Nomination of Directors” below.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, can seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, established with specific written terms of
reference, currently consists of three Independent Non-Executive
Directors and two Non-Executive Directors and is primary responsible
for the review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting
process and internal controls.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee meetings were
held during the year ended 30 September 2024 and the attendance
of each member is set out in the section headed “Attendance at
Meetings of the Board, Board Committees and General Meeting”.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cont’d)

Audit Committee (cont'd)

During the year ended 30 September 2024 and up to the date
of this report, the Audit Committee performed the works as
summarized below: (i) reviewed the audited financial statements for
the year ended 30 September 2024, the unaudited interim financial
statements for the six months ended 31 March 2024 and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2023 with
recommendations to the Board for approval; (i) reviewed reports
on internal control system of the Group and carried out reviews of
the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems; (iii) discussed with the management and the external
auditors the accounting policies and practices which may affect the
Group and financial reporting matters; (iv) considered and made a
recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of the auditor;
and (v) reviewed the Group’s Whistleblowing Policy.

The current members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Yuen Sik Ming,
Patrick (Committee Chairman), Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert, Mr. Lo
Pak Shiu, Mr. Wong Tak Wai and Ms. Ling Kit Sum.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cont’d)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, established with specific written terms
of reference, currently consists of three Independent Non-Executive
Directors, one Non-Executive Director and one Executive Director
and is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy, structure and packages for the remuneration of
all the Directors and senior management of the Company and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy for approval by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. Two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held during the year ended 30 September
2024 and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “Attendance at Meetings of the Board, Board Committees
and General Meeting”.

During the year ended 30 September 2024 and up to the date of
this report, the Remuneration Committee performed the works as
summarized below: (i) reviewed the remuneration policy for Directors
and senior management of the Company; and (i) reviewed the current
remuneration packages of Directors and senior executive members.

Each Director receives a fixed fee of HK$150,000 per annum. The
remuneration package of Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick, Executive
Director, and senior executive members also consists of basic salary,
discretionary bonus and retirement benefits. The Directors’ fee and
the performance-linked remuneration packages are subject to review
by the Board and the Remuneration Committee from time to time
with reference to their respective duties and responsibilities and
the Company’s performance, profitability and the prevailing market
condition. Details of the amount of emoluments of Directors paid for
the financial year ended 30 September 2024 are set out in note 9 to
the financial statements.

The current members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr.
Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick (Committee Chairman), Mr. Chung Yin Shu,
Frederick, Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert, Mr. Lo Pak Shiu and Ms. Ling
Kit Sum.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cont’d)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee, established in March 2012 with specific
written terms of reference, currently consists of three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and one
Executive Director and is primary responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board annually with due regard to the board
diversity, considering the suitability of a candidate to act as a Director
on the basis of the candidate’s qualification, experience, integrity and
potential contribution to the Company, making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and assessing the independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Nomination Committee
meetings were held during the year ended 30 September 2024 and
the attendance of each member is set out in the section headed
“Attendance at Meetings of the Board, Board Committees and
General Meeting”.

During the year ended 30 September 2024 and up to the date of
this report, the Nomination Committee performed the works as
summarized below: (i) reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board; (i) reviewed the rotation and retirement of
Directors and recommended the Board on the re-appointment of
Directors; and (i) assessed the independence of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

The current members of the Nomination Committee are Mr. Yuen Sik
Ming, Patrick (Committee Chairman), Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick,
Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert, Mr. Lo Pak Shiu and Ms. Ling Kit Sum.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cont’d)

Nomination Committee (cont’d)
Nomination of Directors (cont’d)

The Company ensures that all nominations of new Director or Director
for re-election are fair in order to facilitate the constitution of the Board
with a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that
is appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business and
needs.

The Nomination Committee considers a number of factors in
assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate which include
the required character, integrity, diversity perspective, industry
experience which may be relevant to the Company, merit and
potential contributions to the Board, and independence criteria
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules if the candidate is proposed to
be appointed as an independent non-executive director against the
nominated candidate, and make recommendation to the Board for
consideration. The Board shall decide on the appointment based
upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the biographies of Mr. Lo
Pak Shiu and Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick, both being Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company who will be subject to
retirement and re-election at the AGM (the “Retiring INEDs”), and
taking into consideration their knowledge, capability, experience in
retail, accounting and corporate finance, and various diversity aspects
as well as their contributions to the Company over the years, the
Nomination Committee is of the view that the Retiring INEDs will
continue to contribute to the Board with their respective perspectives,
skills and experience.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cont’d)

Nomination Committee (cont’d)

Nomination of Directors (cont’d)

In addition, none of the Retiring INEDs has any financial or family
relationships with any other Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company,
which could give rise to a conflict of interests situation or otherwise
affect their exercise of independent judgement. Furthermore, each
of the Retiring INEDs has made a confirmation of independence
pursuant to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Taking into consideration of the above, the Nomination
Committee is of the view that all the Retiring INEDs remain committed
to their role as Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company
and are independent.

Mr. Lo Pak Shiu and Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick have served the
Company for more than nine years during which period they have
provided professional advice and insight to the Board. They have
in-depth understanding of the Group’s business and operation and
have also demonstrated strong independence by providing impartial
views and comments at the Board and Board committee meetings
during their tenure of office. They have not taken part in the day-
to-day management of the Company. The Nomination Committee
considers that the long service will not affect their exercise of
independent judgment and is satisfied that they have the required
character, integrity, independence and experience to continue fulfilling
the role of Independent Non-Executive Directors, and recommends
the same to the Board. The Board concurs with the view of the
Nomination Committee. In accordance with the CG Code, their
re-election will be subject to separate resolutions to be approved by
the shareholders at the AGM.

In view of the above, the Nomination Committee believes that the
re-election of the retiring Directors (including the Retiring INEDs) at
the AGM is in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders
as a whole and has agreed to nominate them to the Board for re-
election at the AGM.
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ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS OF THE BOARD,
BOARD COMMITTEES AND GENERAL MEETING

Details of the attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the
Board Committee meetings and the AGM held during the year ended

30 September 2024 are set out below:

BZ2024F9R30H L FEHE SERHEEHRH

ARMES

& &t
= = X

BERE 2RI

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

for the year ended 30 September 2024

SEHMER

AGM held
on
Audit Remuneration  Nomination 26 January
Board  Committee = Committee =~ Committee 2024
20245
1H26H
BTHRE
EEe ERZEE FMEEE REZEE BEAE
Name of Director EEF S
Executive Directors YTES
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick BEELE(XR)
(Chairman) 12/12 N/ATEF 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick DREEE 2/12 N/ATE N/ATNE N/AT il
(Attended by his alternate, (iR EEES
Mr. Kenneth Lau) Bl 2 LELE) N/ATE A N/ATEF N/ATEF NATEE 0/1
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert BEEEL 12/12 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Wong Tak Wai EBEERE 12/12 22 NATER  NATEA 11
Independent Non-Executive BIFHTES
Directors
Mr. Lo Pak Shiu ER@mtE 12/12 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick Bk g 11/12 2/2 2/2 2/2 0/1
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony FRRELE
(Retired with effect from (B2024F3A1H#E
1 March 2024) RIK) 0/6 0/1 0/1 0/1 01
Ms. Ling Kit Sum (Note 1) ERZO (M) 12/12 2/2 11 11 1/1
Note: BaE -
1. Ms. Ling Kit Sum was appointed as a member of the Remuneration 1. ERLETEEZERFMNEE @ RIERE
Committee and Nomination Committee with effiect from 1 March 2024. EERE © B2024F3A1HAER -
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 30 September 2024 and 2023, the total fees
paid/payable in respect of services provided by the Group’s external
auditor are set out below:

BB <

BELZE 20245 K 2023F9H30R IEFE » g
SEINEZBERHRE BN RNBE
fRERESIINT -

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BT T BT T

Audit and audit related services Fiz N AEE B RS 1,034 916
Non-audit services (note) LR (P 5E) 415 214
1,449 1,130

Note: Non-audit services include review, statutory compliance, regulatory or
governance procedures required to comply with financial, accounting
or regulatory report matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board, supported by the finance and accounts department,
is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the
Company and the Group. In preparing the financial statements,
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants have been adopted.
Appropriate accounting policies have also been used and applied
consistently. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
included in the Report of the Independent Auditor on pages 65 to 72
of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for overseeing and
maintaining sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis so as to safeguard the Group’s assets
and shareholders’ interests. The Board is responsible for reviewing
the risk management and internal control policies on an annual basis,
and has delegated the responsibility of designing, implementing and
monitoring internal controls and risk management to the Executive
Directors.

The risk management and internal control systems provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. They are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure in the Group’s operations, safeguard the Group’s assets,
maintain appropriate accounting records and financial reporting,
and ensure effective compliance with the Listing Rules and all other
applicable laws and regulations. External independent professional
consultants will be engaged if the Board considers appropriate.

The Board takes steps to provide sound and effective risk
management, which include identification and assessment of
significant business risks, monitoring and reporting of such risks and
day-to-day operational management and control to reduce, mitigate,
transfer or avoid risks. The identified risks are evaluated based on
potential impact and likelihood of occurrence. Procedures have been
established to identify and execute risk mitigation actions based on
the Board’s risk tolerance, provide ongoing monitoring of risks to
ensure that they are effectively managed as well as to escalate and
report any identified issues in a timely manner for effective control.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(cont’d)

The Board regularly reviews the effectiveness and adequacy of the
risk management and internal control systems and is satisfied that the
Group’s internal controls on key business processes and operations
are sufficiently and reasonably implemented. The Audit Committee
assists the Board to conduct annual review on the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board reviews the operation of
internal audit function annually. Given the Group’s simple operating
structure, it was decided that the Board would be directly responsible
for the ongoing review and assessment of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. The Board will review
and ensure adequate resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting,
financial reporting functions as well as those relating to the
Company’s environmental, social and governance performance and
reporting are deployed to maintain the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal controls systems.

Regarding procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company:

(i) is aware of its obligations under the SFO and the Listing Rules
and the overriding principle that inside information should be
announced immediately if it is the subject to the requirements
and the safe harbours as provided in SFO;

(i)  conducts its affairs with close regard to the applicable laws and
regulations prevailing in Hong Kong;

(i) has communicated to all relevant staff regarding the
requirement of handling and dissemination of inside information.
For any matter involving potentially price sensitive and inside
information, relevant staff is required to escalate the matter
to the Board and/or senior executives who will assess the
materiality and nature of the information and whether such
information constitutes inside information and the necessary
disclosures and/or appropriate follow-up actions; and

(iv)  provides trainings to the Board and the relevant staff.

ERREEARDE —T_NFFR

bR EE KRB R ()

EEgrTHEERREENASEZERSN
BREMFASE - WHEEEENEREBRR
BMELNANETIIZD NEIBHIAIT
EREZE e EFSHRRERMAZE
BERETFERS - E22EFRFTNIE
BB EF - ENEENESEER
¥ ORATHEFCEEBREUSERRER
MAIPEEIE R EEE MM - AMBRE
BERE - EFXGHREESUHRAGGE
PATSIREBEE LA R ERBIIRIE - HEFIRIE
BB EEBNER - BITERNLSR -
Bt EIMEE R HEHE - NEFRRERE
MAFPIZEEI RGO T MERIB RN o

B9 7 BT B B 0 8 M0 7R 7 O P9 0
R

() HFERBESRBEEM - EFREIA
LMEERA - HEREAREBEFSFRIPE
TR 2 3k K & 38 7 /38 BB R RIl a2
BIAMREHE

iy EFEBRITERMNEEREREER
eV

(i) DHEEMBERAREENERERAF
HEABETER - RIS RERE
EBRHREMNABERNEIER - 1
ANEBVEBEHE EREEFSN 5
REEAER - MK EZERANER
MEMMEE - ANZEREEBKARH
BARMENIREN,SEE NEETT
&

v) REFSRAEBEABEMHIIL -

33



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ExER®E

DIVIDEND

The Company provides shareholders with sustainable dividends. The
level of dividends shall be determined in line with the growth in the
Company’s consolidated profits attributable to shareholders of the
relevant financial period after considering the factors including the
Company’s operations, business plans and strategies, cash flows,
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements and other
contractual or regulatory restrictions.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene Extraordinary
General Meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, shareholders representing
at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders of the
Company having a right to vote at general meetings are entitled to
send a written request to the Company to convene an EGM. Such
request must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. A
request may be sent to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office and must also be authenticated by the person or
persons making it.

Procedures for Shareholders to request circulation of
statement at EGM

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, shareholder(s) representing
at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders of the
Company or at least 50 shareholders of the Company, who have a
relevant right to vote, can request the Company in writing to circulate
to the shareholders a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at that meeting. A request may be sent to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office and must
identify the statement to be circulated. It must be authenticated by
the person or persons making it and be received by the Company at
least 7 days before such meeting.

34

B’ E

RARBEREHAFENE o REKFR
EARHE S ERERRRNEEEFE
MIERERETE  UEBARREE « X5
SHEIFRE BERE - MM - LEM
BAREBRERZULEMBEAIHEERS] -

IR R AR

RERABMRRFRI A ([RERFRIK
EHER

RBARHED - KRARZERREKRER
ELE5%H R A M A R E L B RRER
FRIREMEmHRK - WEFBRKVAFHAS
& BEEANFRNREE - WA B
LT EASZ LRENABRAS -
AL AIANBEEREARRRZ MR ER T A
AWE  YHMBBARBHBREZALHA

g o]
EZE -

BRRERERRISE RS LERHEH
HREF

REBARUED - KRRARZERREKRER
ED25%HEDE0RFEREHBEREENRK
RAIAZRARAEALARBRRER 7
THiB1,000FER - ARRENMERZ)
BESRFEIZAGEREIENEIER 5
KA AR 2 AR R Z iR E B T A B
£ WHMBEFREREHOBE - Z XMt
PEABBEHZ ATRAZTZE - WARARN
BZABRDERIPERANAT]

Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2024



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ExER®E

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (cont'd)

Procedures for proposing a Person for Election as a
Director at General Meeting

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, if a shareholder
wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director for election
as a Director at a general meeting, the shareholder should deposit
a written notice of nomination and a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his/her willingness to be elected which shall be given
to the Company within the 7-day period commencing the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting and ending no later than 7
days prior to the date appointed for such meeting.

Procedures for shareholders to send enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may make enquiries or direct concerns to the Board in
writing by addressing to the Company Secretary by post to Rooms
2102-4, Melbourne Plaza, 33 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board and senior management maintain a continuing dialogue
with the Company’s shareholders and investors through various
channels including the Company’s annual general meeting. The
Chairman and other members of the Board attend the annual
general meeting. The Directors will answer questions raised by the
shareholders on the performance of the Group. The Board considers
this mechanism has been properly implemented and is effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s Articles of Association
during the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ BUSINESS REVIEW

| would report to shareholders that the Group’s loss after taxation for
the financial year ended 30 September 2024 amounted to HK$156.4
million (2023: HK$129.1 million). The loss mainly resulted from the
current year’s fair value loss of investment properties. The fair value
loss of investment properties for the current year is HK$264.9 million
while the fair value loss of investment properties for the year of 2023
was HK$221.1 million. The Board of Directors recommend a final
dividend of HK$1.8 per share payable to the shareholders registered
on 6 February 2025. In addition to the interim dividend of HK$1.80
per share paid in July 2024, the total dividend for the year amounted
to HK$3.60 per share (2023: HK$3.60 per share).

The Group’s investment properties at Melbourne Plaza, 33 Queen’s
Road Central and Kimley Commercial Building at 142-146 Queen’s
Road Central were 92% and 85% leased as at 30 September 2024
respectively.

The social is return to normal in 2023. The Group’s revenue increased
by 2.4% year-on-year as a result. Without any debt or commitment,
the Group is in a healthy financial position.

For the Group’s investment in Foshan Golf Club project, part of the
residential properties have been sold. There are other project items
under development and promotion. Dividend was declared and
received from this investment at HK$6.02 million.

Looking into the future, through close liaison with tenants and
continuing with its prudent business approach, the Group hopes to

bring optimal return to all shareholders.

Taking this opportunity, | would like to thank my fellow directors and
staff members for their loyal services and continuing efforts.

Chung Yin Shu, Frederick
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 12 December 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DN

GROUP RESULTS

The Group’s performance has declined for the year ended 30
September 2024 compared to the year ended 30 September 2023
as a result of a decrease in the fair value of investment property. Loss
attributable to equity holders for the year amounted to HK$156.4
million (2023: HK$129.1 million). The loss mainly resulted from the
current year’s fair value loss of investment properties. The fair value
loss of investment properties for the current year is HK$264.9 million
while the fair value loss of investment properties for the year of
2023 was HK$221.1 million. After allowing for the effect of fair value
changes of investment properties, the underlying operating profit
from rental operations increased by 16.6% from HK$108.4 million for
2023 to HK$126.4 million for 2024. Revenue for the year amounted
to HK$161.7 million (2023: HK$157.9 million), increased by 2.4%
year-on-year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group’s investment properties at Melbourne Plaza and Kimley
Commercial Building in Central were approximately 92% and 85% let
as at 30 September 2024 respectively (2023: approximately 93% and
85% let respectively).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s working capital requirement was financed by its rental
income. As at 30 September 2024, the Group had cash and bank
balances totalling HK$265.1 million (2023: HK$254.1 million). During
the year, the Group did not take up any borrowings or overdraft
facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEBNWR DM

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES EEREFMBUER

The Group employs a total of 14 employees. The Group recognises ANEBE BB ABA14A - AEB ZKINE
the importance of the strength of its human resources for its success. BB T2 SME M - FTAEEFH S
Remuneration of employees is maintained at competitive levels and ~ #IFEAE/KFE - ME L Z FHENINEE AT

salary increments are assessed on a performance basis. VERIR BT HEE o
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND BEARWE - HERARRER

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

There were no acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and ~ ARFER - A5 F I 28 U 3 =X & T B
investments accounted for using the equity method during the year. A& MIZHEZEARAIEE o BRILLASN - &
There are no other plans for material capital investments or future B A&AF] TR E K 2 E AN E 8k 4 R 23
developments. REHE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R dHE8REXERRSE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Melbourne Enterprises Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary
(together the “Group” or “we”) are pleased to present our annual
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report. The scope of
this report covers our key business operations in property investment
in Hong Kong. The report summarises our performance in sustainable
development during the financial year ended 30 September 2024.
The report is prepared based on the ESG Reporting Guide under
Appendix C2 of the Main Board Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Group endeavours to create sustained growth and long-term
value for its stakeholders. As a business with a lean employee team
of 14 people, the Group embeds ESG considerations when investing
in and managing its assets.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) oversees the overall direction of
the Group’s ESG strategies, and the Group sets up ESG programs to
align with the direction. ESG performance is measured, reviewed and
reported to management regularly for continuous improvement.

REPORTING BOUNDARIES

The Group utilizes its organizational boundary for calculating
environmental and social performance with the adoption of the
“operational control” technique. The Group’s and its Hong Kong
subsidiary’s performance throughout the reporting year determines
the reporting boundary. The report offers a summary of our ESG
management strategy, associated projects, and environmental
performance metrics from 1 October 2023 to 30 September 2024.
The reporting boundary is unchanged from the preceding reporting
period.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R dHE8REXERRSE

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board of Directors is deeply committed to incorporating ESG
systems into all critical business decisions, recognizing the crucial
importance of successful sustainability policies. As the highest
governing body, the Board assumes the ultimate responsibility for
setting the direction of our ESG strategy and reporting. It plays a
pivotal role in directing the administration and oversight of ESG issues
that are deemed relevant to the Group’s operations.

To ensure effective ESG management, the Board ensures the
establishment of robust and efficient ESG risk management and
internal control measures. It regularly assesses and determines
the risks associated with our ESG practices, acknowledging the
dynamic nature of environmental, social, and governance challenges.
By proactively addressing these risks, the Board demonstrates its
commitment to sustainable practices and stakeholder interests.

We align our business vision with evolving ESG disclosure
requirements, particularly the new climate change disclosure
standards. Our goal is to closely monitor and continually assess our
progress as we transition toward becoming a more environmentally
sustainable, socially impactful, and commercially significant business.
We are committed to creating a positive impact on our local
community, economy, and ecosystem.

Melbourne has started work on ESG target setting, scope 3
emissions disclosure and is building a data inventory to track our
indirect emissions across the value chain. We are also conducting
climate scenario analysis to understand the potential impacts of
different climate pathways. We will share our progress on these
initiatives step by step as we continue to improve our sustainability
efforts.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R dHE8REXERRSE

For the fiscal year ended 30 September 2024, the Board specifically
focused on evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency of our ESG
strategies. It examined the alignment of our activities with established
sustainability goals, ensuring that our efforts contribute to meaningful
and measurable outcomes. By reviewing the performance of our
ESG initiatives, the Board seeks to continuously enhance our
environmental stewardship, social responsibility, and corporate
governance practices. In the coming years, our goal is to further
strengthen Board oversight and governance regarding our progress
in setting ESG performance targets, building a Scope 3 inventory,
and conducting climate scenario analysis.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group has been maintaining an open and transparent dialogue
with stakeholders, including employees, customers, shareholders,
suppliers, contractors, and the wider community. The Group engages
its key stakeholders on a regular basis, through various channels
such as staff meetings, Annual General Meeting, interview etc., to
gauge their expectations and feedback on how we could address
ESG issues in the best manner. We start by gathering a better
understanding of their expectations and views on what ESG issues
they think matter the most and how the Group should be expected
to handle such important ESG issues. This ESG report serves as
an important tool to address the key concerns and interests of our
stakeholders.

The Group selects its material themes based on the most recent
advancements in the field of sustainability, industry trends, and
materiality evaluation, which considers how relevant topics affect our
operations and our stakeholders. The primary interests and concerns
of our stakeholders during the reporting period, as learned from
the stakeholder engagement initiatives, have been recognized and
prioritized in the disclosures in this ESG report. The remainder of the
Report provides summaries of important initiatives and activities.

Based on management’s evaluation and feedback from stakeholders,
the Group has strategically restructured its portfolio of material topics
and remains committed to focusing our efforts on these key areas.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE gkt

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT (cont’d)

Issues

E15

ERAWE

N AEESENMER R

Definitions

%

Environmental
RiE

Use of Resources

BIRA A

Energy Consumption

RERERE

Water Management

KEREE

Climate Change

= 454

RIREE

Social

e

Health and Safety
REMZ2
Community Engagement
HE2H

Employee Well-being

BTt
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The Group’s consumption and resources management for energy (including fuel,
electricity) and resources such as water and plastic materials.

AREBERR(BERE - EH) RERQIKERMERME ERENRERER -

The Group’s temperature regulation approach, air conditioning and other electricity
infrastructure systems that aim to improve energy efficiency and reduce electricity
consumption.
REERRE R TA
B FAT o

ZERAREME EIRFRARMBDE I ERENES

The Group’s management approach in monitoring water usage practices, which
includes initiatives such as water recycling and reusing.

AEEAEERRKERSTANERETE - HREEKERMEBNAEEG

The Group’s philosophy is to create a positive impact through energy efficiency
measures aimed at reducing our carbon footprint and mitigating the negative
effects of business operations

REEMESREBEIIE SRR ERNTE - 5 R D5 E PR 8 X5
@%%%%%%ﬁ%go

The Group’s policy and control in terms of occupational health and safety of the
working environment.

AEE B EERER T ERE LT 2 MBOREIES) -

The Group’s initiatives to engage the local community at the locations of the
business operation

RNE B EE S FTE A & it (B 2 5 -

The Group’s collective efforts of creating a workplace that promotes employee’s
physical and emotional well-being.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY FEEEESENEEST A E)
ASSESSMENT (cont’d)

Issues Definitions

B8 BE

Governance

=)

Corporate Governance The Group’s policy and control in terms of governance of ESG-related issues and
anti-corruption risk.

PEER RNEBEFESGHEBEIEE A MR BT AR BUER B o

Anti-corruption The Group’s stance and management approach for implementing control methods
to whistleblowing procedures, bribery, gifts, and business entertainments.

RES REEHERIZT - B - BmAERBEFAIEST AR5 EIR A

Service Quality The Group’s approach to ensure the safety and quality of its services through
operations and quality management systems.

RGES AEERAELNEEERRBEARRRELE2NEENTE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION RIBRE

The Group is committed to operating its business in an AEBEBANEERERNH RELEE -
environmentally conscious manner. Building energy consumption,  fEff {5 B A EEIREYERBRES 2
waste management and water use during the use and occupancy  SEREJFIEFE - BEEVIE IR M A KER 7 ANEE
of the Group’s investment properties comprise the key parts of the  IRiEEIIRIBHE D - At - RIIFEFER
Group’s environmental footprint. Therefore, great emphasis has been B EREREKIFIBEEIE ©

put into resource conservation and emissions management at these

properties.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (cont'd)

We strive to reduce our greenhouse gas emissions through the
lowering of our energy consumption from the major areas which
include air conditioning, lift and lighting systems. We have installed
high efficiency water-cooled chillers with variable-speed drives
in air conditioning systems. Special coatings, which contain tight
urethane resin-based paint, have been applied to the facades of our
buildings in order to improve thermal insulation and reduce energy
consumption from cooling. Our lifts have also been equipped with
energy saving equipment with variable voltage and frequency to
achieve a higher energy efficiency. Lighting systems in the corridors
of some of our properties have been replaced with LED lamps
that are more durable and energy efficient. Moreover, we have
extended this initiative to lighting systems within the properties of
the Group. With continuous maintenance of our current fixtures and
the development of new programs, we are able to witness year-to-
year improvement on our overall efficiency whilst holding on to our
sustainable development.

In addition to the continuous feature upgrades of some building
facilities and installations, we communicate environmental targets and
performance to employees, customers and other stakeholders. For
example, our employees are educated on how to minimise the usage
of energy, water and other resources in the workplace. We have been
promoting double-sided printing and waste recycling. Our employees
are also encouraged to turn off idle lighting and electrical appliances.
Property management staff at our commercial buildings will turn off
their buildings’ lighting and reduce passenger lift service starting from
8:00 p.m. We work closely with tenants to minimise waste generation
in their daily operations wherever practicable, through the prevention,
reuse, recycling and recovery of waste.

Water conservation is another key focus of the Group. For example,
our property management team encourages smart water use by
installing water efficient taps in washrooms and promoting concepts
of water conservation to our tenants, which has been positively
received without affecting the user experiences.

We are dedicated to making a contribution to environmental
protection. We will continue to review the effectiveness of the existing

initiatives and set achievable targets in future years.
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THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group strives to protect the natural environment and the
community by reducing negative impacts from operations. Given
the nature of the Group’s principal business activities, its operations
are not expected to create much impact on the environment and
therefore will not consume significant natural resources.

With a focus on property management operations, we strictly abide
by government regulations in resource conservation programs,
including recycling non-hazardous materials and working with tenants
and third-party specialists for hazardous waste treatment.

Water consumption was closely monitored for toilet use and daily
consumption within the office buildings. Due to the nature of our
business, which does not involve intensive water consumption from
manufacturing operations, we have not encountered any water stress
situations.

While as a property investment and management company, our
site selection concentrates in urban area. With limited impact to the
natural environmental, the Group will continue to look into different
ways to enhance its employees’ environmental awareness and
incorporate environmental considerations into its business decisions,
in addition to enhancing environmental measures. Minimising GHG
emissions and enhancing energy efficiency through upgrading the
lighting and air-cooled chillers are the long-term environmental targets
of the Group.

During the reporting period, the Group has complied with relevant
environmental laws and regulations. The Group is not aware of any
non-compliance with significant impact on the Group relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE

As a result of climate change, extreme weather events, such as
typhoons, seasonal storms and heavy rains, are likely to become
more frequent in the future. To manage and mitigate climate risks
resulting from extreme weather events and protect the Group against
possible financial loss, the Group has formulated emergency plans to
deal with extreme weather, which aims to reduce disruption and loss
due to suspension of operations.

At operational level, we fully implement LED lighting to reduce energy
consumption and promote cost savings. Additionally, we regularly
check our energy system to ensure optimal energy usage throughout
the day. We have implemented the practice of shutting off non-
essential energy sources during non-office hours, minimizing wastage
and contributing to our commitment to environmental sustainability.
As part of our commitment to conserving energy, we have also
invested in optimizing the existing air conditioning systems. We have
upgraded our infrastructure by installing new air conditioning units
that are not only more efficient but also consume significantly less
energy. The proactive steps help us reduce our environmental impact
and contribute to overall energy conservation efforts. Additionally,
through regular maintenance and monitoring, we ensure that these
systems continue to operate at their peak efficiency, further reducing
energy consumption and promoting sustainable practices within our
operations.

The Group regularly reviews the impact of climate change on its
operation and will formulate measures in response to different risks
to reduce the risks to the Group and achieve sustainable operations
in future. During the reporting period, we have identified the most
relevant climate risk categories as shown in below table and
summarised their impacts to the Group. At the same time, the Board
will keep monitoring all relevant risks and opportunities and update its
strategy in responding to climate change.
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RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE (cont'd)

&

FE SRAR B ML (50)

Type Driver Implication
555 BHRE |
Physical Risk Extreme Winds and The impact of floods from heavy rain and strong winds can not
Heavy Rain only cause damage to our properties but also disrupt our business
operations, leading to potential financial implications and increased
maintenance expenses.
ERER PN IESSH] ,Jﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬂa_ﬁxm/,dkﬂ SRERMNYE  ESEELRMINE

Transition Risk Policies that regulate
business activities
that generate negative

climate impacts

HiEE  BYBENMBEZEMNGEERNEM -

Failure to comply with or stay updated on the latest developments
in environmental laws and regulations applicable to the Group’s
operations in various jurisdictions may result in potential losses.

eV REELAERELE  AEBETILFTHRIARDEEERNERANEAEEERNZINIER
HEBR B EER BEBER AR BBUEENEL -

Environmental Performance Data Table RIBMREERIR

Environmental KPlIs' Unit 2023/24 2022/23*

RIEEARENES B 2023/244 2022/23F*

Total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions tonne CO,e 3,179 3,099

BERBGHO) &M= NE_AfriEE

Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1)? tonne CO,e 767 767

BE SRR (EE1)? NE_AfriEE

Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2)° tonne CO,e 2,412 2,332

RERBBYR(EE2)8 NE_AriEE

Total non-hazardous waste produced tonne 186 187

EERIEERILEDESE NI

Total electricity consumption kWh 3,869,618 3,741,775

BEEE TR &

Total electricity consumption intensity by gross floor area kWh/square feet 12.63 12.22

BHREERE(RREEEENE) TR FAAR

Total water consumption m? 14,726 10,790

BFEKE SR

Total water consumption intensity by gross floor area mé/square feet 0.05 0.04

REREEETENBERIKERE MHKRSFHRR
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BRI #HER

TREBRSE

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE (cont'd)

Envi

ronmental Performance Data Table (cont’d)

Notes:

GHG emissions data for both years were calculated based on
emissions factors with reference to sources including the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong’s “How to Prepare an ESG Report Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”, the Hong Kong SAR
Government’s Environmental Protection Department and the Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department’s “Guidelines to Account for and
Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings
(Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong”, the
Greenhouse Gas Protocol’s Emission Factors for Cross Sector Tools,
the OECD and IEA’s “CO, Emissions from Fuel Combustion”, the EPA’s
“Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas Inventories” and the IEA’s
“Energy Statistics Manual”.

The source of scope 1 emissions comes from Air-conditioning
Refrigerant Consumption since we do not consume any fossil fuels.
The emission factors for both years are from Greenhouse Gas Protocol
(GHG Protocaol).

The source of scope 2 emissions comes from purchased electricity
consumption, and the emission factors for both years are from
International Energy Agency (IEA).

The electricity consumption figures, along with the related scope 2
emissions, total emissions, and total electricity consumption intensity,
have been restated for the 2023/24 period using an updated emission
factor to better reflect energy performance in prior years.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Our greatest asset and the foundation of our long-term expansion is
our workforce. Without the outstanding individuals who work for the
Group, none of our accomplishments would have been possible. The
Group pledges to provide satisfying careers, a warm environment,
and a good work-life balance for its workers.

Employment

The Group tries the best to be an employer of choice. To offer

employees fulfilling and rewarding careers, we put our people first by

creati
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ng a secure, engaging and inclusive work environment.
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R dHE8REXERRSE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (cont'd)

Employment (cont'd)

Our human resources practices are established to align with
the applicable laws and regulations with regard to recruitment,
compensation, other benefits and welfare, promotion, working hours,
resting periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
dismissal.

The Group provides competitive remuneration to attract and retain
talent. Salary increments are assessed objectively, on a performance
basis. On top of salaries, we provide a range of benefits including
medical allowance, transportation and study allowances. Employees
are provided with a free lunch and refreshments every working day.
In order to promote employee engagement and a sense of belonging,
we distribute red pockets and mooncakes at traditional festivals such
as the Lunar New Year and Mid-Autumn Festival.

The Group embraces diversity and provides employees with equal
opportunities. A nurturing and collaborative workplace for all
employees is highly advocated whilst zero tolerance for harassment
and discrimination of any form is strictly enforced by the Group.
Employees are assessed and hired based on their capabilities,
regardless of their age, gender, nationality, cultural background,
religious belief, etc..

Our employees are very satisfied with the working environment,
resulting in low staff turnover during the reporting period.

Health and Safety

Ensuring the health, safety, and well-being of our employees is of
great importance to us, especially considering that some of our
tenants are private doctor practices and hospitals. We are fully
committed to aligning with government policies and regulations that
promote employee safety and implementing proactive measures
accordingly. In support of this commitment, we actively encourage
and support our staff in prioritizing their health by taking strict
preventive measures and active disinfection measures. These
measures are crucial to reducing the risk of infections and maintaining
a safe working environment.

ERREEARDE —T_NFFR
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (cont'd)

Health and Safety (cont'd)

In our properties, we conduct maintenance and inspections in
accordance with regulatory requirements regularly. Fire equipment
such as fire extinguishers and the emergency lighting system are
checked regularly to ensure proper functioning in the event of an
emergency. In the past three years, there was no work-related injury
and fatalities being reported.

As we believe both physical and mental health is important to
maintain high quality of work, flexible work arrangements are made
available as far as practical in support of our employees to maintain
work-life balance.

Development and Training

The Group believes that professional development of the employees
lays a solid foundation for its business growth and is key to
maintaining its competitiveness. Our employees are encouraged
to pursue work-related advanced studies and attend seminars and
workshops to hone their skills. We support our people by providing
study subsidies and flexibility in work scheduling to facilitate
the professional development of our employees. Similar to the
previous years, we subsidised our employees to attend property
management training workshops. In the long run, we will continue
to provide training opportunities for our employees and support their
professional development, and it is in our long term human capital
development plan to further diversify our planned employee training
curriculum.
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R dHE8REXERRSE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (cont'd)

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child and forced labour in its
operations and takes rigorous measures to prevent such practices.
Our suppliers and contractors are expected to adhere to the same
standard. The Group extends its responsibilities beyond mere
compliance with relevant laws and regulations to provide employees
with quality working conditions.

OPERATING PRACTICES

Supply Chain Management

The Group interacts with a number of suppliers and contractors when
managing its investment properties. Adherence to environmental and
social standards by suppliers and contractors forms an important
part of our commitment to sustainable procurement. Through
working with our suppliers and contractors, we strive to minimise
the risks associated with our supply chain including those related to
environmental, social and governance practices. The Group manages
the performances of the suppliers and contractors through regular
monitoring by the project manager. Annual performance review on
the suppliers and contractors is conducted to ensure continuous
compliance with the Group’s environmental policy. In the event of
unsatisfactory performance, the supplier will be asked to rectify
this issue in a timely manner. We may also suspend the business
relationships with the suppliers or contractors who fail to comply with
our performance and ethical standards. For sizeable outsourcing
work such as building maintenance and renovation projects, a
tendering process is in place for contractor selection. This includes
a fair and transparent process for bidding, investigations, tender
evaluations and decision-making. We maintain close relationships
with a select group of suppliers and continuously monitor their
adherence to local regulations. Additionally, we regularly update and
streamline our supply chain processes and categories to ensure
efficiency and compliance.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (cont’d)

Product Responsibility and Service Quality

The Group is responsible for providing a quality, safe and healthy
working environment to the tenants and visitors of its leased
properties. Tenants’ feedback is welcomed and helps guide the
continuous improvement of our service quality. Daily site inspections
are conducted and frequent communications with our tenants are
maintained with the aim of upholding a high standard of service
quality. Feedback and complaints are escalated as needed and
followed up by designated teams in a timely manner. The Group is
committed to continually improving its service quality. For example, in
our facility renovation project, we enhance our facilities with barrier-
free entrances as appropriate, in response to the Hong Kong SAR
Government’s policy on creating a barrier-free access physical
environment for persons with disabilities. We care about the customer
experience in our properties. We decorate the common areas with
greenery, which creates a warm and welcoming environment for our
tenants and visitors.

Protecting customer data privacy is a priority when it comes
to managing our relationships with our tenants. We implement
scrupulous procedures to protect customer data. Customer data are
only accessible by authorised personnel and handled with care.

We have implemented a tenant-focused management approach
called “Report and Resolve” to address the specific needs of our
tenants. Our property management team operates with a streamlined
structure, allowing them to promptly receive and address feedback
and suggestions from tenants in real-time. By adopting this approach,
we aim to resolve any issues or concerns immediately, ensuring a
high level of tenant satisfaction.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (cont’d)

Product Responsibility and Service Quality (cont’d)

Additionally, during the renewal process of rental contracts every two
years, we provide tenants with dedicated time to discuss any overall
suggestions or concerns they may have encountered throughout
their rental period. This allows us to proactively address any recurring
issues and make necessary improvements to enhance the overall
tenant experience. We take pride in the success of our “Report and
Resolve” management approach, as it has consistently achieved a
100% satisfaction rate among our tenants. This demonstrates our
commitment to actively engaging with our tenants, prioritizing their
feedback, and continuously striving to provide them with exceptional
service and support.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to operating with a high level of integrity
and accountability. We have zero tolerance for fraudulent behaviour,
corruption and any forms of bribery. Our principles and strong
stance against corruption, conflicts of interest and other malpractices
are well conveyed to our employees and the parties that we work
with through our Code of Conduct. To ensure adherence to our
anti-corruption principles, we provide relevant training programs
that educate not only our employees but also Board members on
ethical practices and the importance of maintaining a corruption-
free environment. These training initiatives contribute to a culture of
integrity and further emphasize our commitment to preventing corrupt
practices.

During the reporting period, there were no suspected or concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Company
or its employees.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (cont’d)

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

We implement comprehensive preventive measures and a robust
whistle-blowing procedure to uphold ethical standards and
prevent misconduct. We have established a clear whistle-blowing
policy that encourages employees and stakeholders to report any
unethical behavior, fraud, or misconduct. Reports can be submitted
anonymously through secure channels, ensuring confidentiality and
protection against retaliation. Our preventive measures include strict
adherence to compliance guidelines, and routine reviews to identify
and mitigate risks. We continuously monitor these systems, with
designated compliance officers reviewing reports and enforcing
corrective actions as needed.

Community Investment

The Group is continuously committed to implementing and sustaining
rent assistance and relief programs for those who are going through
hardships. By providing continuous support to small business
owners who are facing challenging times, we aim to alleviate
temporary financial challenges and ensure the well-being of our
tenants. Additionally, we actively engage in community outreach and
engagement activities to contribute to the growth and thriving of the
local community, and aim to foster partnerships and collaborations
that promote economic resilience and enhance the overall vitality of
the community. Our dedication to assisting our tenants and actively
engaging with the community reflects our commitment to creating a
supportive environment where both individuals and businesses can
flourish and thrive.

Regulatory Compliance

The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are operated
in compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations. Regulatory
frameworks within which the Group operates are analysed and
monitored; internal policies are prepared and updated accordingly.
Workshops or trainings are also conducted where necessary to
strengthen the awareness and understanding of the Group’s internal
controls and compliance procedures.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group relating to environmental protection, employment,
labour practices and operating practices.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT HEER®RE

The following social data are prepared in accordance with Reporting A Nt &8s =R S R S5 EEw -
Guide.

Social KPIs Unit 2023/24 2022/23
HERRERIER BV 2023/24%F  2022/23%F
B1: Employment

Bi: {&{&

Total workforce No. of employees 14 16
BTE EEHE

a: Number of employees by employment type

a: IR REL B

Full-time No. of employees 14 16
g EEHE

Part-time No. of employees - -
5 EE#HE

b: By gender

b: RMERIE D

Male No. of employees 7 8
St EEHE

Female No. of employees 7 8
g EEHE

c: By employee category

c: RETERED

Non-managers No. of employees 13 15
FEaee EEHE

Top managers No. of employees 1 1
s EEHE

d: By age group

d: IBEFHRE D

20-29 No. of employees - -
20-295%, EE#A

30-39 No. of employees 2 2
30-395% EE#HE

40-49 No. of employees 5 4
40-495%, EE&A

50-59 No. of employees 2 3
50-595% EE#A

60 or above No. of employees 5 7
603K A £ EE#HE
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT (cont'd) HEENRE ()

Social KPIs Unit 2023/24 2022/23
HERERENEE By 2023/244 2022/23%
e: By geographical region

e IRIEH IR B2

Hong Kong No. of employees 14 16
EE EE#A

B2: Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)

B2: BE¥REHRZE

a. Work-related fatalities

a. AITH

Work-related fatalities reported Number - -
HBEHWETITH #H

Work-related fatality rate Percentage - -
AT T = ERilsd

b. Lost days due to work injury Days - -
b. ETGHEATIERE ZN

B3: Development and Training

B3: &R MF I

a. Average training hours by Gender

a. HRIERIEI 5 8 T 3551 05 8

Female Average hours per person 11.5 6.5
7 AN

Male Average hours per person 23 1
S AN R

b. Average training hours by Employment Category

b. R 8 T RIZ D ) TR 21

Top management and Board Members Average hours per person 7 1
aREEENESTENE AN

Management Average hours per person 40 25
EIRE AN

Staff Average hours per person 15 0.5
BT AN
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT (cont'd) HEEMRE (B

Social KPIs Unit 2023/24
HEEREARER B 2023/24%

2022/23
2022/23%F

B5: Supply Chain Management

B5: e EE

Number of suppliers in supply chain

HEEAHEREE

Number of suppliers No. of suppliers 8
HEEEE HEEEE

Number of suppliers by geographical region

IRIRH IR (R 1 8 5 Y R 2B

Hong Kong

EE

Suppliers No. of suppliers 8
e HEEEE

B8: Community Investment

BS: H BIRE

Resources contributed to the focus area

EEHREFAEBAEIR

Amount of money donated/contributed

B ERNEE

Environmental concerns HK$ -
RIEEE I

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFR
I
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HKEX REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

&

General Disclosure and KPIs

—RIXBANERERIES

BEREXZMBEERRABTRSI

Reference/Remarks

SEEH

Aspect A1 - Emissions

EHEA1— S5

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and

greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

—RRIRE QB - MO)ETHRITABEAZEN  BREERSOEEREYN

AR K e BES

KPIA1.A

AR AR IRIEIRAT
KPI A1.2

FASRAEIRIRAL.2

KPI'A1.3

FASAEINIETIRAL.3
KPI A1.4

B AEIIIEIRAL.4
KPIA1.5

BASHAEIEIRA15

KPI'A1.6

FASHAEUIEIRA1.6

58

BEREZEZEMNELSOREBMER LA -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

et A M AR R B R -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.
BHE(#ER1) R REE (#BB2) R =R EBEENE (LA

)M (ER)TE °
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.

FTEEAEEEYRE (AAEAE)R(WMER)EE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.

FREEBREEENRE (ARWETE) R(WER)ZE -
Description of emission target(s) set, and steps taken to
achieve them.

EFTET LAV BEIN S B IR R R R 5 L B IR PR ERER B 205 o
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set, and
steps taken to achieve them.
HEREEENEEEEMN L - R
RN ARED|E L BRI A 25 -

ALFRET ML AR B

Environment — Greenhouse
Gas Emissions and Energy;
Waste Management

RIE—RERBHREE

R BEYER
Environmental Performance
Data Table

RIB R ERIR

Environmental Protection

IRIBRE
The Environment and
Natural Resources

RELBARER
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HKEX REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (cont’d) ERRIFIHREEEABRRS (&)

General Disclosure and KPIs

—RIWBENERERIER

Reference/Remarks

S2EEM B

Aspect A2 - Use of Resources

[BEA2 - &REEMA

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water,

and other raw materials.

BRERAER(BIEER - KEEAM RV B — AR BEE B

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh
in ’000s) and intensity.

BASRAE RUEIRA2.1 RS MERE R, SHEEREREE (UUTET R

BIREE -
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity.
BSR4 IEIRA2.2 BRKERTE -
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set, and steps

taken to achieve them.

FBERUIEIRA2.3 R P ET SL A BEIRE AR Wam B R R A& B5E Lk B IR P ERER A

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set, and steps taken
to achieve them.

B RUIEIEA2.4 FASREGE /KR ERI A AR - LA RPTE] S8 K
AR N AEREL B RAAERIE 25 -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

RSB BURIZA2.5 EXRMPTAEEMBENEE ARABTE) NEEESMNLE
(@A) o

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFR
I

Environmental Protection

RIRRE

Environmental Performance
Data Table

BEMAL SR

Environmental Protection

BARIRE

This is not considered
material to the Group as
our finished products do
not involve the usage of
packaging.

B EKm T RE
£ AEHAEEmS
WAEE -
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General Disclosure and KPIs

—RIWBNERERIER

BEREXZMBEERERABTRS(5)

Reference/Remarks

SEEM B

Aspect A3 - The Environment and Natural Resources
BEAI-RERKAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

BIEBEITAHRBERRAERENEAT B —RIFTEBR

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

MR RBEHRBERARAERNEATE LD HKRERS
B ERTE °

R8s AR IR TZAS A

Aspect A4 - Climate Change

BHEA4 - RIFE1L

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BRI REHE KRR AR ETAEEXENERRFEEEEN —RIKTBEE

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

RSB RUEIRAL A B RN A HBETAELEYENEARKEFAEE
N EETE -

Aspect B1 - Employment

EEB1—{E{E

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

—MIREE (@K ROEBEBTHETABEATEY - BT REE  BEKE
o IERE - BRE - TERE - ot - RERUAREMGFE RENBEEERR
il o

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and

geographical region.

Environmental Protection

RIIRE

Responding to Climate
Change
FEETR IR E

Employment and Labour
Practice

BEMS

BB

Social Performance Report

RSB RUE1RB 1 R - BB - FaARR RitEE 9 HE S8 - HEERRE
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.
B RUEEBT.2 RIER -~ FEAERI KRB D HIEBIMARLLE o
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HKEX REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (cont’d) ERRIFIHREEEABRRS (&)

General Disclosure and KPIs

—RIWBNERERIER

Reference/Remarks

SEEM B

Aspect B2 - Health and Safety

[EEB2-#REZT 2

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a

safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

—MREEE : (R - RO)ETHEITAGEATEN - BRREHLZE2THERRERRE

REBRBEREBENERERZNAD -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the reporting period.

BASR A IR IRB2.1 BE=F(BREBREH)FFEITHNOABMELE -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
RSB RUEIEB2.2 EATEERTIEEE -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
B RUEEB2.3 TP ER AN A B SE A2 R B 22 2 10 0 DA MBI T R BE 5
V£ o

Aspect B3 - Development and Training

[EEB3— 2R R iE3

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

BRIRITE 8 ETT TIERE M MB R — AR R BUR - #l s ES) -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category.

BB RUEIEB3. 1 RUERIREEFAESNZIEER DL

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by

gender and employee category.

RAS AR MIE1RB3.2 BRI RREERE D - BREE TN TR

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFR
I

Health and Safety

(G35 e

Social Performance Report

HEEMRE

Health and Safety

[y

Development and Training

R RIE
Development and Training

R MAEFI
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General Disclosure and KPIs Reference/Remarks
— R B M B SR B RS S SESZH EBFE

Aspect B4 - Labour Standards
[EEB4— % T 48|
General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant Labour Standards
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.
—MRIE - (@BR  RO)EBTHETABEATESN  BAMIEETHRHSTHME 5T ER|
RER ARSI -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.
RSB RUIE1EBA. 1 s B DB EA R R E T MRS T -
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

FASAEIRIRBA.2 e IR RIBER K BRR B RIS U ERE A 22 5K

Aspect B5 - Supply Chain Management
[BEB5— HEHEEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply Supply Chain Management
chain.

EIRMHEEIRIE It g AR —ARIREETER fHresEE s

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Social Performance Report
BASR 4B 513285, 1 it E D HHERHEE - HEERwRE

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number  Supply Chain Management

of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

BASR 4B HE15B5.2 BRI AHERNED - MENITERENNHEERE HregEE i
B ARBERTRERAE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BASAE RUIE1EB6.3 R B BERHEEEERSHIRE L 2RRED] - A
NABRIIT MR A -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

BASR A8 HE15B5.4 Rt BRI BB R (2 2 2 FRIRIRE ma M ARTS V1B - AR
HERITRERGE -
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&

General Disclosure and KPIs

—RIWBNERERIER

BEREXZMBEERERABTRS(5)

Reference/Remarks

SEEM B

Aspect B6 - Product Responsibility

EEB6—-EmEE

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating to products and services

provided and methods of redress.

—ARIREE
HZE - EE
KPI B6.1

FASARARIR1RB6.1

KPI B6.2

AR A IR 1EB6.2

KPI B6.3

RASAAIEIRB6.3
KPIB6.4

RS 1RB6.4
KPI B6.5

RSB 1512 B6.5

BEHREERAF

CEQEK  RO)ETHETABEATEN  BEMEHER
F BREELBFEEARMROTENERAE LR -

N BRH5 b B

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons.

EERDEXREMERTRELE
tt e
Number of products and service-related complaints received

2RI mMALKH E D

and how they are dealt with.

BREANEmERGOIRFEE AREE T -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

Fil ift R4 G N RS AN EEAE B AR IE DI -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

RS S0E BIE N EmE AR o

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

fi i H B B BURRE RALBBUR - ANRMBRIRIT MBI

ZEZNFEFR
I

Product Responsibility and
Service Quality

EmBETNREEE

This is not applicable to
the Group’s nature of
operation.
RIFHERET
4K B EEO

We have no such case

SR SEy

reported for the reporting
period.

WEMME - NEEE LS
E ke sy

This is not considered
material to the Group.
EHAKEMELTERK -
Product Responsibility and
Service Quality
EmaTMREES
Product Responsibility and
Service Quality

EmBETNMRIEEE
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General Disclosure and KPIs Reference/Remarks
— R B M B SR B RS S SESZH EBFE

Aspect B7 - Anti-corruption

[BEB7-R&S

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant Anti-corruption
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,

extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

—RIEE  (QBCR - RO)ETHETAGEATEN  FRADNLER 9% BEE RES

FEREHAERER KRB o

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices We have no concluded
brought against the issuer or its employees during the legal cases regarding
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases. corruption for the reporting

period.

RSB RUE1RBT .1 MERNEBITASIH EERETEEENE THARMLR WEHRE - AEEEEE
BB REFA&ER - HEEESFRARME -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

RSB RUEIRBTY .2 R SRR - A RAEERITRERTE -

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.

B RUEEBT.3 fHmEERE TRENRESE -

Aspect B8 - Community Investment

[BEB8—HEIRE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs Community Investment

of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

BREANR2ERTHREEME/ N RFRNEREXGLDEERNEMNEN —RE  HEIKE

FBBUR -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution.

BB RUIE1EBS. 1 EIEREE -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area.

FASAEIE1RBS.2 EFEIHBMBAER -
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
B BT RS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BYZBENRE

To the Members of Melbourne Enterprises Limited HEHRERRATIKE
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) (REBFMKZNBRAE)
OPINION =R

What we have audited EMEETHAR

The consolidated financial statements of Melbourne Enterprises B EBERAR(ANEEIEAF]) RE
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary (the “Group”), which are B AR (A T4 B E£E ) HEHNE73E

set out on pages 73 to 131, comprise: 131 BRERE I EmE - 81 -
e the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 September 2024; o A2024F9A30BRGAEERER

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the o  HEZHILFENLGE2ERER
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year o  EHZEZHIFIFENGAEREHEK
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then o HEZHIIFENGEAESRER &
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising ®  fREMIEHREM T - BIEEAS IR

material accounting policy information and other explanatory EERHMBREES -
information.
Our opinion EMPNER

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and MR AE » ZSHGAPHKHERCBEET S
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 EFRIAEBAAEERERELELNDEEM
September 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and FEHRIRT HEBER2024F9H30HK
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance #RAMERAILEEEAB FFENLGEAE
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by BRI\ RGERESRE @ WEEREB(A
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)  BH&EHI )& Akl -

and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFR 65
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B BT RS

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

66

RRHNER

BPERBEBESHMASEMAEEE
SHERIDEITERET o BAIPVEZF LRI T ARIE
METDERNRE ZBEI R E 4R M5
BRAENEE IO PIEE— T -

HFIRE - RAPMESHELREETEN
EEARPINET B RIREER

By

REBZEGMAGRMNCEEXRSE
BRSTADATEREI A - HABL
R BEEE - YEERTTARNEMERE

mEE-
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B M % B RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BREITER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RB#ETEHEERBERMOZELE - 25
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ¥ AHi#F A M BREN BN RAZTENS
financial statements of the current period. These matters were I8 o L EIHZ AR FBTREGA M BR
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial &M EE REEITEEN - AT EHE
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we  LEIBEHEBNE R -

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to valuation of ~FRFIERTPHFINBRETEEAKREY

investment properties.

Key Audit Matter
BRENSE

K2fhE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ESNAEEBEETSE

Valuation of investment properties

REWRZMEE

Refer to notes 3(d), 5(a) and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
B2 R A MWK TES() - 5@ k14

As at 30 September 2024, the Group’s investment properties
were stated at fair value of HK$6,805.2 million, with a fair
value loss of HK$264.9 million recorded in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year.

20249 A30H - EEBEZREMERNABESHKGSE
520& TTHIER - AR AFE 2 EW G KR ERGEE2(86,4908 7T
ZRAEEEIE -

Management has engaged an independent external valuer to
perform a valuation of the investment properties. The external
valuer used the direct comparison approach in the valuation of
the investment properties. The valuation of these investment
properties requires significant judgment and estimates by the
management and the valuer.
ERECINEFELEEMUEREYEETHE o HERE
AEELBUEHAANIREMEEGE - ZFREME ML
ERZEEERGEMEREZHE R -

ERREEARDE —T_NFFR

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
investment properties included:

B RENREEZRFRE

o We understood management’s processes
for determining the valuation of investment
properties and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and the level
of other inherent risk factors.

e BMTHMTEEEBHNEREMELENRE
Fr oo iR E B E T RE M2 E R EA
E A @b EE&KE - 71 T EREE R
BVEA EE o

° We evaluated the competence, capability and
objectivity of the independent external valuer.

o  HMETHINEELGEMCER  HEHM
BREEIL
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
BEEEE

BREITERE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RANEANOEEBREESE

In determining a property’s valuation, the valuer took into
account properties of a similar nature, condition or location
and made adjustments to comparable market transactions to
arrive at the final valuation.

RETEYHMGER  HEMEZEREUWE S - KRk
B - WH AR TSR S 1EHBEBGRKME -

We focused on this area due to the fact that there are
significant judgement and estimation uncertainty involved in
the valuation of investment properties.

MR EREMENHERANRERMEFIELERHE L
BRAEEN - BRI ZEERRERETER -

68

With the assistance of our internal valuation
experts, we performed the following:
EBMzABHEZERBET - HFIE
B2 F R

178y

- We obtained the valuation reports
for the investment properties, held
discussions with the valuer to assess
the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and key assumptions
such as the market transactions used
(including adjustments to comparable
market transactions) for determining the
fair value for the purpose of the Group’s
financial statements.

— HMEBMBTHERBREMEZGE
WE o BEAER AR - AR A EMEES
£ML MREERE - WAAEANT

R (BEHALBRTSI SR AE)
ET{%%%E EEEMBHREAZ
RABIE -

- We compared, on a sample basis,
the market transactions used by the
valuer to our knowledge of the property
market and published external data,
such as transaction records by property
agencies and the Land Registry, where
appropriate

—  BRAEGINBEERD T A M5 5 6
B METIS 2 RA K E E M2 5N
g WEREBER T MFMENRZS
soek (RNE A ) 1EL LR -

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to the valuation of investment
properties in the context of HKFRSs disclosure
requirements.

B E TESBMBRELEANBRERE
T BEEMERENRESSEH -

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
methodologies used in preparing the valuations of

the investment properties were appropriate and the

key assumptions were supported by the available

evidence.

ERERITHETER - RMIBE SXEGHER

ﬁ%mﬁim HER  BEXFEREIEHEITK - 55
EIES o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

ERREEARDE —T_NFFR

Hitpf5 8

BERAEFEAHAMERRE - HBERE
REBANAEEES - BETEREAMH
KBTI BEN RS o

BREGEMBERRNELL TREEME
B BT T HZEEMESEREMER

HEERE SR ©

BABRMBREMBRROET - RANE
TRMEEEMER  EERT  EEEM
EERBEGEVBHRRARMEETBIE
PR T EREAVBERFEERNEE - HEUFF
EERBERRAIFR

ERBATHITHIIE  MREMRREM
ERFEERBERRL - HMFERELSE
BofmEh|E  BPREEARE -

EERERZEENRAMBHREA
AENEFE

BERRIEFAREAREBEEEGTMAGHEN
R E BT SR R B EC R BMERDID &
BEEMTENGEWHREK - UHERR
RIEERE M BRROEE N FERNREFR
B8 iR 11 28 BUHY B2 K B BR R AT 75 9 10 BB 422

ag-

ERBREEVBRER  EFaRH
SEFBRENREN  LEERBR TRE
HRFECERBENER  UARERFERE
RERTER  RIFEFARH ESKEEE
HIFILEE - HREEMEROBRTE -

it}

i

R

B MR

BERENMBRE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

70

BB ET R M B RRAENE
£

BANER  SHRAMBHREAEEBES T
TFE A RRRF SR AR T S B B A SR R PRt
MEAERE  AHABRERMERNER
B s o RAIERREB(AAHED)FE405
fikrm ET(ERBR)BERMNER - K
It 2 SN E BB E AL B A o IR EHA
BENARRAETAEMALE SR GEEM
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E

< %5 o

fREEH AR AR RS - AREHE
WMEEHZR  EREMYIEY S5E

T
MBI BRIEERER -

Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2024



REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
B BT RS

BB ET R M B RRAENE
6D

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based

HEESMRA SRR EERIE
SEHAFT AR REN S -

HEERAHELESTERNREN
e  IRIZFTERMEERE -
ERAFAEEFENBRARHEAT
EENE - WMAl g SRERRE
BRERNELERRERE - MRAMIR
REEERTHEEMN - AL EERZE
R & hiRs A& T B A IS HR
RRRRKE - REABHNEETR -
AR MEEERRFRREER - RIW

iR RN ZBEN R E B IEPTESH R

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the FHRFE o AR - RRFIEKIERAIESE
Group to cease to continue as a going concern. B BESEETERELE -

TBEFEAUEHRROEREIHR - 4
BARE  BIEEE  UNRGEAEPER
REAHERMZSMEE -

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the e
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the o 5 BEERTESESIDNHERE
BERRE  HENSEITRE  AEYH
BEMBRRERER - BMBE B
SEETM -« BEBABT c BB
EiERAEEIHER -

financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

PREMEIEIN RPEEZEZESEB T
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant  ZI Bt & E - BELHE - ERAET B
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control % » B ERAER T # B H ERHE HI AT
fAIEKERFE ©

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

that we identify during our audit.

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFR 7
I
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Ka Yee.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 12 December 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEHEWER

Year ended 30 September 2024 # 2024495304 1 F/&

2024 2023
2024 20234
Note HK$000 HK$'000
BaE BT T BT
Revenue & 6 161,666 157,894
Operating costs R CID N (36,737) (40,965)
Gross profit EH 124,929 116,929
Other income EMUA 7 15,198 7,754
Administrative expenses THER (13,707) (16,303)
Changes in fair values of investment & EMEAABEZE
properties 14 (264,918) (221,126)
Loss before taxation BRI ATE IR 6,8 (138,498) (112,746)
Income tax expenses BB 10 (17,859) (16,419)
Loss for the year attributable to BEREMKTFEER
equity holders (156,357) (129,165)
Other comprehensive loss Hitt2mEE
Item that will not be classified R BES LR 2 HE
subsequently to profit or loss
Fair value loss on financial asset NAREBEFAEMEEKRE
at fair value through other NERMEEMN AR EEEE
comprehensive income 18 (9,879) (16,479)
Total comprehensive loss BREGAFELZEEBATE
attributable to equity holders (166,236) (145,644)
HK$ HK$
il N
Loss per share BRERE
Basic and diluted EARNEE 12 (6.25) (6.17)

The notes on pages 78 to 131 form part of the consolidated financial 5 78E 131 B i ARG A IS HRER —
statements. & o
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REEEREBR

As at 30 September 2024 F2024F9H30H

30 September 30 September
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
9H30H 9H30H
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE BT T BT T
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - HEs N ERE 13 162 155
Investment properties REYE 14 6,805,150 7,064,000
Investment accounted for using the & HEZEABREIIRE
equity method 16 = -
Financial asset at fair value through AR EEF AR EEWEEH
other comprehensive income TREE 18 62,748 72,627
Advances to an investee company MR ERFTEK 18 29,605 29,605
Deferred rent receivables BIEREWES 19 151 221
6,897,816 7,166,608
Current assets REBEE
Debtors, other receivables, deposits ~ FEUBRFX « B EUERR « BT
and prepayments Be RIEAK 19 7,992 11,094
Cash and bank balances RE RIRITIFK 20 265,149 254,113
273,141 265,207
Current liabilities REEE
Creditors, accruals and deposits ERERER - ENERRERIES 21 40,408 40,378
Provision for long service payments ~ KHIRIE© B 8,674 -
Current tax payable BIEAFE S B T8 16,381 18,275
... 65468 58653
Net current assets REEEFEE 207,678 206,554
Total assets less current liabilities BEZAER AT EE 7,105,494 7,373,162
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Provision for long service payments  KHIRIE & B 3,928 15,363
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIBRE 22 2,469 2,466
___________________________________________________________________________________________________ 6,397 .. 17829
Net assets EEFH 7,099,097 7,355,333
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HEEERER

As at 30 September 2024 F2024F9H30H

30 September 30 September
2024 2023
20245 20234
9H30H 9H30H
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE BT T BT
Equity s
Share capital &N 23 125,000 125,000
Fair value through other NAREBEFAHLMEEYEE
comprehensive income reserve T 62,747 72,626
Retained profits IR & 6,911,350 7,167,707
Total equity HMEER 7,099,097 7,355,333
Chung Yin Shu, Frederick Chung Wai Shu, Robert
EEE EEE
Director Director
EE Ea
The notes on pages 78 to 131 form part of the consolidated financial £ 78E 131 B MM s AR A B EHRE ) —
statements. & o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERZEDXR

Year ended 30 September 2024 # 2024495304 1 F/&

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
Share income Retained
capital reserve profits Total
NAREE
AR
RE  2EKERE RERA k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT ABETT BETT
Balance at 30 September 2022 202259 A30 A £ ¢h 125,000 89,105 7,376,872 7,590,977
Loss for the year attributable to equity ~ BRREIGAFEEE
holders - - (129,165) (129,165)
Fair value loss on financial asset at fair AR/ BER AR M2 EKE
value through other comprehensive NEMEENRABEER
income - (16,479) - (16,479
Total comprehensive loss for the year 2 E W EE - (16,479) (129,165) (145,644)
2022 final dividend paid 20204 BRI E - - (45,000) (45,000
2023 interir dividend paid 20234 B JE EIRR &, - - (45,000) (45,000)
Balance at 30 September 2023 R2023F9 B30 A &84 125,000 72,626 7,157,707 7,355,333
Loss for the year attributable to equity IR FEIG A E 1R
holders - - (156,357) (156,357)
Fair value loss on financial asset at fair AR/ BER AR M2 EKE
value through other comprehensive NERMEENAABERE
income - (9,879) - (9,879)
Total comprehensive loss for the year 2 EE K18 - (9,879) (156,357) (166,236)
2023 final dividend paid 20234 BRI E - - (45,000) (45,000)
2024 interir dividend paid 20244 B R EIRR & - - (45,000) (45,000)
Balance at 30 September 2024 N2024F9 B30 B &84 125,000 62,747 6,911,350 7,099,097
The notes on pages 78 to 131 form part of the consolidated financial ~#78ZE 131 B &I s AA4RE M B WK A —
statements. BB o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

REBREMER

Year ended 30 September 2024 # 2024495304 1 F/&

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T AT TT
Cash flows from operating activities EETH ESRE
Loss before taxation EHEEE (138,498) (112,746)
Adjustments for: PR
Interest income F B A (8,982) (7,609)
Dividend income from financial asset UAREBERFAEMAZE NS
at FVOCI W RVEE 2 IRBUA (6,024) -
Depreciation e 56 33
Changes in fair values of investment KEMEANEBEZES
properties 264,918 221,126
Provision for long service payments REIRRTS & Bt 1,015 3,750
Operating profit before working capital changes &8 & NS B Al 2 & 3 & 7 112,485 104,554
Decrease in deferred rent receivables, debtors, ELEUWTES - FEUBRR - Efth
other receivables, deposits and prepayments  JEUERF - B RS MIEH K
s 3,103 850
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, accruals and  FEfJERFX - BN BB REWIZS
deposits s 30 (224)
Long service payments paid B RBRS S (3,776) (3,143)
Net cash generated from operations EEELECIRE T 111,842 102,037
Interest received 2HFIE 9,051 7,120
Hong Kong profits tax paid EBNSH S (19,750) (6,914)
Net cash from operating activities  _  EXEDHEREFE 101,143 102,243
Cash flows from investing activities BRETH2HERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment AW - B REE (63) (133)
Purchase of investment properties BAEYE (6,068) (2,4206)
Dividend received 2R E 6,024 -
Net cash used in investing activities CARBREREEE (1on) (2559
Cash flows from financing activity AEIEBZHESRE
Dividends paid 2RI B (90,000) (90,000)
Netcashusedinfinancingactivity WA ESEERGHS (90,0000 . (90,000
Net increase in cash and bank balances R MIRITFR 2 IEINFER 11,036 9,684
Cash and bank balances at beginning of the REVIE 2B e RRITFER
year 254,113 244,429
Cash and bank balances at end of the year RELER 2R E RIRTTHER 265,149 254,113

The notes on pages 78 to 131 form part of the consolidated financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

78

GENERAL INFORMATION

Melbourne Enterprises Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of
its registered office is Rooms 2102-4, Melbourne Plaza, 33
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The shares of the Company
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The Company and its subsidiary (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in property investment and investment
holding in Hong Kong.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the
Board of Directors on 12 December 2024.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of investment properties and
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”), which have been measured at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in note 5 below.

(a) Adoption of new standard and amendments
to standards

The Group has adopted the following new standard and
amendments to standards which are mandatory for the
financial year ended 30 September 2024

HKFRS 17 and Amendments to  Insurance Contracts
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —

Pillar Two Model Rules

The adoption of the above new standard and amendments
to standards does not have any significant effect on the
results and financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

2.

80

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d)

(b) New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation which are not yet effective

The following new standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation which are not yet effective are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 October 2024 or later periods but which the Group has
not early adopted:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and ~ Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the

and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial

Instruments
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d)

(b) New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation which are not yet effective
(cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(Revised)

HKFRS Amendments

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

Annual Improvement to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —
Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures

The Group will apply these new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretation as and when they become
effective. The Group does not expect that these new

standards and amendments would have any material

impact to its results and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

3.

82

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary
made up to 30 September and include the Group’s share
of the results for the year.

Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group has power over an entity, is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect these returns
through its power over the entity.

Subsidiary is consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

3. EXETHEME

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EXSHHEEBE®)

POLICIES (cont'd)

(b) Subsidiary (cont’d) (b) MIBAR(E)

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owner of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. On the acquisition by
acquisition basis, the Group recognises a non- controlling
interest in our acquiree at the date of acquisition either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. If the
business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying
amount of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date through profit or loss.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree at the
date of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is
less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EXSHHEEEBE®)

POLICIES (cont'd)

(b) Subsidiary (cont’d) (b) MIBAR(E)

84

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
indicator of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the
date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as associated
companies, joint ventures or financial assets. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

The Company’s investment in the subsidiary is carried at
cost less provision for impairment losses. The result of the
subsidiary is accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EARSFHEERMEH)
POLICIES (cont'd)
(c) Investments and the financial assets (c) RERSBEE
(i) Classification (i) ##HE
The Group classifies its financial assets in the REBEZATHERRES
following measurement categories: BEEMETOME -
e  those to be measured subsequently at fair s BEUAAREEE=E
value (either through other comprehensive (BEEFHTAHMS
income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss), and i) e
e those to be measured at amortised cost. e DEBRKAIFENR
BEE o
The classification depends on the entity’s business ZOBEURREBEESR
model for managing the financial assets and the BEMFEBEAURZEE
contractual terms of the cash flows. HERREMERH -
For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses HRUAABEFENSR
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For BE - HlaEMEsERrAR
investments in equity instruments that are not held ek HA 2 E W o ¥R3E
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group RHMMERTIARE  H
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial W ME BT EAEURR
recognition to account for the equity investment at AEBEVRERESEE
FVOCI. H N BT 408 ) 328 22 1 S EL 4
ERAAREBHETEAHSE

Bt AR 2 W -

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and EEERZSTEENEHKE
only when its business model for managing those NEEBLR - NEBE A
assets changes. BRI EHETEDE -
(i) Recognition and derecognition (i) FERFIAE LR

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets BRANBEERHEN SR
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which BERNRSHBHER - X5H
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. EEASEAGZBENLE
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights BEMBH - ERDERE
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have ERESREMNENE R HK
expired or have been transferred and the Group has E#EE BASEDLAER
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of TERMEEMBELETR
ownership. R - eREE

BRI AR o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

3.

86

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(c)

Investments and the financial assets (cont'd)

(iiij Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its
debt instruments as amortised cost where assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in interest income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and presented
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange
gains and losses.
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(iii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(c)
(iii)

BEHREERAF

Investments and the financial assets (cont'd)

Measurement (cont’d)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.
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(iii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. ERSFHBEERMEH)
POLICIES (cont'd)
(c) Investments and the financial assets (cont'd) (c) BERESRMEEH)
(iv) Impairment (iv) atE
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis HRAE AN AT ENES
the expected credit losses associated with its TH AEBEREEREE
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The BRI RIBE M ST - RE
impairment methodology applied depends on FEBAREGERRBES
whether there has been a significant increase in FEEIN o EREUARER -
credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group applies AEERARBMIFHRELE
the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, BIZE 9% A FTHRSL 7% -
which requires expected lifetime losses to be TEViE R R 5T 2 EUAR X
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. BREFEHNEHEER
For other financial assets at amortised cost, the K o B E M LA SRR AR ET
provision for these financial assets will be determined ENEREE  SELERE
based on whether their credit risk are low at each ENBREHESIVANESER
reporting date, and, if so, by recognising a 12-month HFHEMMNERARREER
expected losses amount. If the financial asset is not K- 2 BRA12(EA K
of a low credit risk, the corresponding provision for TEEAERIEL - WRERME
doubtful debts will be recognised as equal to lifetime ENEERRIIFRE - 1/
expected losses. HENZERRE AERET

BHNBEREERKIER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

3.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (cont'd)

(d)

Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for
capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by
the Group, is classified as investment property.

Investment property comprises land held under operating
leases and buildings held under finance leases. Land held
under operating leases are classified and accounted for
as investment property when the rest of the definition of
investment property is met.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost,
including related transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing cost. After initial recognition, investment
property is carried at fair value. Fair value is determined
by professional qualified valuers on an open market value
basis at the end of each reporting period. Changes in fair
value are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the carrying amount
of the asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group
and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

ERREEARDE —T_NFFR

3. EASHEREME®)

(d) &EU=

RESERHESHENEERR
ERERE BXWIFAEEER
HEIIRRIREME -

BRENEERACERNTEZ
T RAMBENFTEZET -
UEEMRN/EZ L - WA
BREMFERTER BREVE
DERANR - RERNBIMES

FAFEEAMARK ©

BREMFENTRERATE - 8
RN HKA - EHFHER
& REWMERRAFEEIE
It F A ESF I ERR
e AREEEPELGSEZEK
m R

HEXHRAREEZEER BN
AREEN DA A ERARE
B - MZEEMNKAA EGE
B Tt AEEEMNREES
FrAEfb e RRERANEESL
M R AR AR A 2 ERE R
STHH o

89



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3.

90

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(e)

(f)

Impairment of investment in a subsidiary,
associates and non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that have an indefinite useful life, for
example goodwill, or have not yet been available for use
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment. Other assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
carrying amount of an asset is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the carrying amount of the
asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income for the amount by which the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped as cash-
generating units for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment testing of the investments in a subsidiary
and associates is required upon receiving dividends
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary or
associates in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Cash and bank balances

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
bank balances includes cash on hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less and bank
overdrafts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(g) Revenue recognition

3. EASHEREME®)

(9) Wzt

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for services provided, stated net of discounts returns and
value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to
the entity; and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as described below. The
Group bases its estimates of return on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(i) Rental

Rental is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. When the Group provides
incentives to its tenants, the cost of incentives will
be recognised over the lease term, on a straight-line
basis, as a reduction of rental income. The difference
between the gross invoiced amount of rental and
operating lease rental recognised over the lease term
is recognised as deferred rent receivables.

(i) Service fees

Property management service fee is recognised
when services are rendered. It is recognised over
time.

(iiij) Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets that
subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-
impaired financial assets the effective interest rate
is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

ERREEARDE —T_NFFR

BB RAEASERERGBIE
T IHE & an MR HE AR A% T IR 3
BUBRzREzAREE - K
EHRES - QR - i - EF
KEMBERERERRIIR - &
AEBAZAHRKEER R -
ZMm e R AT E - A
BEBES ZFEEAR - A
B2 WA R AR © AEt AESL
XEREE W MEPEH -
R PR RERL R ZFHIE

S

) #HEE

KERBK2HELEZY
EZHSREOFHNELR
EERGEE2E KR E
R BEARERER‘ESTHE
P BERABRERA
BREFER /A BNE
o T H B RN
HNRRNEEHEEe
FHZRSERRETEK

B -

(i) REE

YR EIE RIS BAERBIRH
RIER - ERMBEFHEER -

(i) F&

MEBBAZERNERIAS
BREEREAREE  RE
SREERRENEREE
BRI o BAEEREN SR
BENMBRARERH X
FAEBMEEREEBRE
BRBERFREE -

91



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3.

92

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(g) Revenue recognition (cont’d)

(iv) Dividend income

Dividend is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

(h) Operating leases

Group as the lessor of operating leases

Lease income from operating leases where the Group acts
as the lessor is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining
the operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the underlying asset and recognised as expenses over
the lease term on the same basis as lease income. Lease
incentives are accounted as in note (g)(i) above. The
respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet
based on their nature.

Current and deferred taxation
(a) Current income tax

The current taxation is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date in the country where the
Company, its subsidiary and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authority.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(i) Current and deferred taxation (cont'd)

(b)

BEHREERAF

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely
through sale.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(i) Current and deferred taxation (cont'd)

(b) Deferred income tax (cont’d)

(c)

94

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Generally, the Group is unable to control the reversal
of the temporary difference for associates. Only
where there is an agreement in place that gives
the Group the ability to control the reversal of the
temporary difference, the temporary difference is not
recognised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(i) Employee benefits

0]

(ii)

(iii)

BEHREERAF
I

Employee long service payments

Employees’ entitlements to long service payments
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for long
service payments as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme

The Company contributes to a Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF”) scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The scheme is a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee and is available
to all employees. The MPF is funded by payments
from employees and by the Company, and provide
benefits linked to contributions and investment
returns on the scheme. Contributions to the scheme
are recognised as an expense in the statement of
comprehensive income in the year to which the
contributions relate.

Bonus plan

Provision for bonus plan is recognised when the
Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

3.

96

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(k) Foreign currencies

0]

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK dollars (HK$), which is the Company’s functional
and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss for the
year.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part
of fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

BEHREERAF
I

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

0

(m)

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the financial period when the
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
or directors, where appropriate.

Trade and other debtors

Trade debtors are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for expected credit losses.

In the event that lease incentives, including rent free
periods are given, such incentives are recognised as
deferred rent receivables. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental income
on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

98

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(n)

(o)

Trade creditors

Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade creditors are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade creditors are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably
estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE ESTIMATION

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and
the Group’s overall risk management policy seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The Group continues to control financial risk in a conservative
approach to safeguard the interest of shareholders.

(@) Creditrisk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from deposits
with banks, advances to an investee company, debtors,
other receivables and deposits. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’
failure to perform their obligations as at the balance sheet
dates in relation to each class of recognised financial asset
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
balance sheets.

The Group considers the probability of default from initial
recognition of assets and whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis by
closely monitoring against established credit policies. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the assets, generally on individual basis, as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition.

For trade debtors and deferred rent receivables in relation
to rental income, the Group carries out regular review
on these balances and follow-up action on any overdue
amounts to minimise exposures to credit risk. The Group
measures the lifetime expected credit losses based on the
outstanding balances with debtors, offset with the deposit
placed to the Group by the counterparties or the assets
held by the counterparties expected to be frozen by the
court for confiscation, and historical credit loss experience
adjusted by the current and forecast economic conditions
that may affect the ability of the counterparties to settle
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. BIBRREERAABEEGE
VALUE ESTIMATION (cont'd) (48)
(@) Credit risk (cont’d) (a) EERKSE)

100

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to
these receivables as the customer bases are widely
dispersed in different sectors and industries. The
exposures to these credit risks are closely monitored on
an ongoing basis using established credit policies.

Impairment on financial assistance provided to investee
company such as loan receivable, is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit losses, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
through the management’s critical assessment on
the recoverable amounts based on underlying assets,
historical repayment pattern, the actual and expected
changes in business performance and general market
default rate. If a significant increase in credit risk of a
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then loss
allowance is measured as lifetime expected credit losses.

Deposits are placed with high credit-quality financial
institutions such balances are considered to be of low risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE ESTIMATION (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain prudent liquidity risk
management and flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient
cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s working capital
requirement is generally financed by its rental income.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows including interest payment.

BHEREERAABEEGE

(%)

(b) REEZE

AEEERTERRAE IREEFE
HANERBEERDESARE
BRELEN AEEZEEE
BES  TEREMESWA -

REARBENSERBERENEH
XZEBHMERBRNASRE

Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and
1 year 2 years 3 years Total
MER MZE25R RKR2E3FR W
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
At 30 September 2024  FA2024%9 A30H
Trade creditors B SRR 1,596 - - 1,596
Accruals and deposits  FEER R DU
e 30,645 6,367 1,800 38,812
32,241 6,367 1,800 40,408
Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and
1 year 2 years 3 years Total
P1ER PE2FR R2E3FK 4z
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT BT AT TT T TT
At 30 September 2023 202349 H30H
Trade creditors B SRR 1,843 - - 1,843
Accruals and deposits ~ FEfER R DU
b 16,533 21,371 631 38,535
18,376 21,371 631 40,378

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFR
I
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. HMBEREERAAEBEEGE

VALUE ESTIMATION (cont’d) (%)

(c) Currency risk (c) HEREE
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong, and most of REBEITERBABLEER K
the Group’s commercial transactions, recognised assets EEARBOHEER S MEER
and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. In MEENBEREHUEBEE - &
the opinion of the Directors, the Group’s exposure to the EEERAEE ZINERR AR
foreign currency risk is minimal. BEBRA -

(d) Capital management (d) EXER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to REEERERAZ REENMEE
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going REBEEKE 288N BREA
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and RRBHELEHRE AEMERFE
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal EREAGE  URERHFIEERN
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. BARRIBLARMEE SR o
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the BTHFNFARERERE K&
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to HEeRERNTRREZKREREE
shareholders or issue new shares. R EBATHAR ©
The Group did not have any borrowings at 30 September REE L2024 4F 2202399 A 30
2024 and 2023. The Group uses equity to finance its A B|AEREE - AEEAER
operation. VEREBEDR o

(e) Fair value estimation (e) AAREBEMLE

102

Financial instruments that are measured in the balance
sheet at fair value are disclosed by level of the following
fair value measurement hierarchy:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

AR ERMBRRARGTEZE
BTRZATAREEFEER
g 7452 55 -

s [FEEEXBBEHLEETS
2 HRECREHERE) (F—
ST

o EHE(NERBUE) LHE
(AMERELZIE)ERKRE
—EMPHREIAI ZATE
REEXRBERE(E_F
%) o

o HAFERAIERTISEE
ZEESHBBEHEEIAA
BB (F=54) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

BHEREERAABEEGE

(%)

() 2REBEEMGEM®E)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4.
VALUE ESTIMATION (cont’d)

(e) Fair value estimation (cont'd)

BEHREERAF
I

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active
markets are based on quoted market prices at the end
of the reporting period. A market is regarded as active
if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from
an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on
an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1. None of
the instruments is included in level 1 as at 30 September
2024 and 2023.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2. None of
the instrument is included in level 2 as at 30 September
2024 and 2028.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3. Unobservable inputs were used to determine the fair
value of financial asset at FVOCI, which is included in level
3.

For the year ended 30 September 2024, there were no
transfer of financial assets of the Group between different
levels of the fair value hierarchy.

ZEZNFEFR

REBEBTSEENEH TR
BAREE  SRBEHREER
RFrmmEE - REXFH
BER &L XRWAL EE
AR5 S B2 B W 4 M) BB B B E I
BHE MARBEBERAREAF
AEBETERRERETHTS
X% BAEMSAHERAE
B ARERANMBEEMM
MmSRETERFHNEAE © %
FTERREE —FHA -1V
20249 H30H ;202349 A30
H  WEEMIAHIAE—%
Ao

FRRIERMSEEN ML
B(fInsMTETRE)NARE
B AIFAGERTEE - %%
HERMTRAREMFER T A&
SHOEBEMSEE - &KX
PRE MR ES T B B E L ET Y
KRBIZE o IR A REFEN—
BT EMMAERE AZBIESA
BIERS  BIZBEITAgHIIA
B ZM o PR2024F9A30H &
20239 A30H & WETM T A
WHIIANBE —EL

fieh — 118 =X 2 18] B Ao A BB E IF
RBABEMSRIEET - A&
HTAGRIAE=54 - IFE
EHABRBEARBEIALE=F
MARSEEF AR E K S
MEREE

HZE2024F9A30H IFFE - #

ESREENAABESFSRZME
R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. BIBRREERAABEEGE
VALUE ESTIMATION (cont'd) (48)

() 2REBEEMHEEM®E)

(e) Fair value estimation (cont'd)

104

The following table presents the Group’s financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at 30
September 2024 and 2023:

TRINRAEER2024F %2023
FOABHERARNBETENS
BT A :

2024 2023
2024 20234
Level 3 Level 3
B=E E=E
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BRI
Financial asset at fair value through AR/ BEFT AE M2 ERZER)
other comprehensive income SREE 62,748 72,627

Changes in financial asset at FVOCI in level 3 financial
instrument for the year ended 30 September 2024 and
2023 were set out in note 18iii).

As at 30 September 2024 and 2023, the fair value of
an unlisted financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income is determined by adjusted net
asset method with reference to market value of the golf
courses and related commercial and residential properties
assessed by an independent professional valuer, using
direct comparison method and residual method for the
respective properties. The directors consider that this
valuation technique is more relevant given that the golf
courses and related commercial and residential properties
are the major and principal underlying assets of the
financial asset. This financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income is included in level 3.

# 22024 F % 202349 A 30 H
It UAREBEFAEMEER
ENEREERNE-SHEHT
B & ) G A A M 511 8(ii) ©

2024 F 202399 A30H +
AABEF AEMEEK I
FTeREENRAABENAKEHA
BEEEHIUREGBIFEE
HEMFERAEZELBUERFISRE
HEBMKRIIGRIERIEE 2 %
REEMHETENGEETE
ESRAENTRERMIGRIER
HEAZEEREEDEAZER
BENTENEENEEER -
ELGERNEREE o Dt
AABEFAEMEZEREZN®
BMEERER/RE=E -

Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that may have a significant effect on the carrying
amounts of assets are as follows:

(@) Valuation of investment properties

The fair value of each investment property is individually
determined at each balance sheet date by independent
valuers on a market value assessment. The fair value is
based on the direct comparison method with reference
to current sale prices in an active market for properties
of similar nature, condition or location. In the absence of
such information, the valuer determines the amount within
a range of reasonable fair value estimates. In making its
judgment, the valuer considers information from a variety
of sources including current sale prices in an active market
for properties of different nature, condition or location,
adjusted to reflect those differences.

Judgment is required to determine the principal valuation
assumptions to determine the fair value of the investment
properties.

At 30 September 2024, if the adopted unit rates of
adjusted market comparable price of investment
properties had been 10% higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, the carrying value of the Group’s
investment properties would have been HK$680.5 million
(2023: HK$706.4 million) higher/lower and the Group’s
loss before tax would have been decreased/increased by
HK$680.5 million (2023: HK$706.4 million).

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFR
I

BARETHEE R A

REBERFEHGHE MRRETHE - A
NBELRLEMARAER  BHER
ARRESETIER TRES/AEREL
=

REEFRKAEL AR RBRR - MAE
h @sthEHC R A ERAER -
HREYE 2 REEA BN ERTE
ZEERERET

(a) REMEXzAAEBEMLE

B-HREVMEZAABERBYL
HERGEE BIRMISERF G
MARE ° RABEDRERLR
TESERERTISTERUYE
ZMHEE ORI R 2 RITE
1% o MERZ BRER - LA
ELERETEREZAREE
MEHER - NELHIER - 4
BB ZEEZRER KR - B
REREEEBZ TSP TARMEE

#ﬁim%Z%%Zﬁ TEM
W FH T AR R B RE -

FABTREMEAAEESE
B EBRE TSR -

R2024F9A30H @ Wik EWME
ZERAKEARA L TISE B
Fiﬂ/?ﬁm%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@
SBREHF[FILE  AXEEZ
&éﬁ#@%zﬂﬁ@{ﬁéiﬂ/w&e
7 ¥ 680,500,000 7T ( 2023 4F :
# ¥ 706,400,000 7T ) & A &£ E
ZHBRBAIBEE Y LB
680,500,000 JT ( 2023 F : 7 #&
706,400,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 5. BRSHHERFE ()
JUDGMENTS (cont’d)
(b) Fair value of financial asset at FVOCI (b) UAREBEFFAHMEZEEY
mHEmEE

The fair value of financial asset at FVOCI that is not traded RBEERMESEBENUNRAE
in an active market is determined by using valuation Bt AEft2EUENERMEE
techniques. The Group uses its judgment to select a WARBESMAMGEERTNmE
method (i.e. adjusted net asset method) and make E o ASEEMAAHEER &S
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions E(AMERARFEERE) b E
at the end of each reporting period. ERBEEREHRERFHTS

ERIEH BR -

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DHEHR
The Board collectively has been identified as the chief EESCWHERNATFEEERRE - &
operating decision makers. The Board reviews the Group’s E22ERENAEE 2 REBER - LA
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate HRIREGARER
resources.
The Board considers property investment in Hong Kong as the EXSRAERBETYERENEE
sole operating segment of the Group. ZE—EEDES -
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
(@ Revenue (@ W=
Property investment MERE
Rental income GEEAON 140,959 139,159
Property management fee income YEEBRBIRA 20,707 18,735
161,666 157,894
(b)  Contribution to loss before (b) HRRBAIERE
taxation
Property investment — Segment result MERE — D EEER 126,420 108,380
Changes in fair values of investment REMEANBEZE
properties (264,918) (221,126)
Loss before taxation bR ATIEE (138,498) (112,746)
Revenue comprises rental and service income from investment W BIEREBEBIREME 2 ER
properties in Hong Kong. BERA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HgA
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT I
Bank interest income HRITALEUA 8,982 7,609
Dividend income from financial asset AR EBEFAHMEEYE
at FVOCI WEREEZREWA 6,024 -
Sundry income IR A 192 145
15,198 7,754
8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8. BRFiATEIR
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loss before taxation is stated after BRA% AT E IR E Bk ¢
charging:
Outgoings in respect of investment KEMEZ BB L
properties 35,707 39,250
Directors’ emoluments (note 9(a)) EEMe (7)) 2,664 2,605
Auditor’s remuneration 1% EL R B &
Audit services FEH RS 1,034 916
Non-audit services JEEET AR 415 214
Depreciation (note 13) FE(MEE13) 56 33
Staff costs (excluding Directors’ BIBACITREESZNE)
emoluments)
Salaries and other emoluments FrekEMmMe 5,507 6,081
Long service payments RERE & 740 3,491
Contributions to mandatory provident EE N X
fund scheme 161 120
ERREBERAR —ZT_UEER 107



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9. EERSRITHRAEME
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=M<

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$°000 HIK$'000

BT T BT T

Fees e 1,112 1,091

Salaries and other emoluments e REMBE 1,277 1,255

Long service payments RHRS® 275 259

2,664 2,605

Each Director receives a fixed fee of HK$150,000 (2023: BR2ESHEFHUR—FEE

HK$150,000) per annum. Fees paid to Non-executive #8578 %150,0007T (20234 /&

Directors for the year amounted to HK$812,000 (2023: $%150,0007T) ° AFFIFEHITE

HK$702,000). During the year, the Group did not pay EXftz e s HB#S12,0007T

the Directors any inducement to join or upon joining the (20234 : &H702,0007T) ° &

Group, any compensation for loss of office. None of the PSR B0 8 () B 52 AR 4

Directors has waived the right to receive their emoluments. AW EFMAS AR E R

R SHBEIHEE -REF
1 E RS IE S -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9.
EMOLUMENTS (cont'd)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (cont'd)

EERERITRAEME ()

(a) EEM<(H)

Details of the emoluments paid and accrued to the MESIN2MSFBOT :
Directors are as follows:
For the year ended 30 September 2024 HZE2024F9H30H L FE
Salaries and Long service
Fees  allowances Bonus payments Total
HER
Name of Director EEFZ ne Hitt e L RERES wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
BRI T BT T BETT BETT BRI T
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, BEELE
Frederick 150 1,139 138 275 1,702
Mr. Chung Wai Shu, BEERE
Robert 150 - - - 150
Mr. Lo Pak Shiu EfR#AtE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, BrifeA s A
Patrick 150 - - - 150
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick 2% ¥ %4 150 - - - 150
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony TRIE%AE
(Retired on 29 February (17220244
2024) 2A29HE) 62 - - - 62
Mr. Wong Tak Wal BERLE 150 - - - 150
Ms. Ling Kit Sum BRI 150 - - - 150
1,112 1,139 138 275 2,664
HAREERAE —T-NEFR 109



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9. EERERITHRAEME(E)
EMOLUMENTS (cont’d)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (cont'd) (a EEMEHE)
For the year ended 30 September 2023 HE2023F9A30HILFE
Salaries and Long service
Fees allowances Bonus payments Total
HEk
Name of Director EZF4 we Hiole L EERSE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BB BT BRI BT

Mr. Chung Ming Fai pE)

(passed away on (PA2023%F

4 May 2023) 5A4RAEH) 89 - - - 89
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, BEELE

Frederick 150 1,097 158 259 1,664
Mr. Chung Wai Shu, BEERE

Robert 150 - - - 150
Mr. Lo Pak Shiu ElR&REE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, BrifeA s A

Patrick 150 - - - 150

Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick % ¥ %4 150 - - - 150

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony TRIELAE 150 - - - 150

Mr. Wong Tak Wai BEERE 51 - - - 51

Ms. Ling Kit Sum BRLE T 51 - - - 51

1,091 1,097 158 259 2,605

Notes: BRE

()  During the year, no payments, benefits or pensions in () AFERN ITEEENEER
respect of termination of directors’ services were paid or BENKIERMERKRE BT
made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any TESEN T HERNFK(2023
payable (2023: HK$NIl). ).

(i) During the year, no consideration was provided to or iy ANFEAN - LEREREZESR
receivable by third parties for making available directors’ BmAE=FRENEENS
services (2023: HK$NIl). ek RN (2023 : 4&) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS (cont'd)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (cont'd)

Notes: (cont’d)

(iiiy ~ During the year, there are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2023: None).

(iv)  Except as disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Company’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2023: None).

(b) Senior executives’ emoluments

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include one Director (2023: one
Director) whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented in note 9 (a) above. Details of the emoluments

0.

EERERITRAEME ()

(a) EEM<(H)
BfisE - ()

(b)

(i)

AEER  TERAEE X
FEEEBIHE A B M %
EMHETIRREHNER 2
ERMEAMRZ ZHE R (2023 -
&) o

X

Br M FEo5 M BB AN - AR FE
A ARRWERTEAS R
AEBZEBMARNRIZES
EESHETERERE AR
mZEERS THRAER
(2023 : #&) °

SRITHAEME

RNFEEEBRSE RS 2 @5
ATBIE1ZEF(2023F : 14
BE) EMEB IR EXHEE
O@) - #4245 (20234 : 4% )&

BEHREERAF
I

paid to the remaining four (2023: four) individuals during RFALTZMEFHET -
the year are as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Salaries and other emoluments e hEMME 2,353 2,626
Long service payments RHR%S 391 524
2,744 3,150
The emoluments of each of the individuals are below HEZERNMESH LB

HK$1,000,000. 1,000,0007T °

ZEZNFEFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. HIA

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated statement FEirE2ERERZIEZHBERT ¢
of comprehensive income represents:

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HIK$'000
BT T BT T
Current income tax BNERFT1S AR
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBNER 17,922 16,429
— Over-provision in respect of —AEFE BERE
prior year (66) (64)
17,856 16,365
Deferred income tax (note 22) EIEFTS L (M sE22) 3 54
17,859 16,419
For the years ended 30 September 2024 and 2023, the HE 2024 K 2023F9 4308 [EFE -
provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been calculated in EBEMNEF R ENSH AL EETE o
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Under RIEFNERMAE @ ANEBRLSERETE
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million B 78 %2 000,000 7T FE 5T Ft v R B9 i ==
of assessable profits of a qualifying corporation of the Group 58.25% -+ MA@ & ¥ 2,000,000 7T A
will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2 FERLRLHF 2 B R 516.5% o TFA F
million of the qualifying corporation will be taxed at 16.5%. The SBEHRMEEERNEEEMmEREE
assessable profits of the other entity of the Group in Hong Kong FEFT RS A B —37216.5% i K1 E o
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (cont'd)

The taxation on the Group’s loss before taxation differs from the

10. BB (&

RSB B RARR AT B 18 2 BRIR SRS BR

theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of REBNEmMGE 2 RBmbisE. 2 Z a0
Hong Kong as follows. N

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT I

Loss before taxation R Al B 1E 138,498 112,746
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% H R 16.5% (20234 : 16.5%)

(2023: 16.5%) TR (22,852) (18,603)
Income not subject to taxation AR WA (2,476) (1,256)
Expenses or loss not deductible for G L7 ds-3ss

taxation purposes 43,418 36,507
Effect of the two-tiered profits tax rate AR IR S R R 2 o2 (165) (1695)
Over-provision in respect of prior year T2 BRRE (66) (64)
Income tax expenses sl 17,859 16,419

11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Interim dividend paid of HK$1.80 EIREHERE - BRER1TT8A

(2023: HK$1.80) per share (2023%F : GRRABK1TL8A) 45,000 45,000
Final dividend proposed of HK$1.80 BRB RS - §REK178A

(2023: HK$1.80) per share (2023%F : FREE1TT8A) 45,000 45,000

90,000 90,000

At a meeting held on 12 December 2024, the Directors
recommended a final dividend of HK$1.80 per share. This
proposed dividend will be accounted for as an appropriation of
retained profits for the year ending 30 September 2025.

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFR
I

R2024F 12 A12A BT &% L &
EEERRBERBREFRBE1TS
A o I ERAR BT IEBI = 2025F9 A
0B LEFEZRERMDIK °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BRBE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss EREAEENDBRERREMLEE
attributable to equity holders of HK$156,357,000 (2023: 75 156,357,000 7T (2023 F : & &
HK$129,165,000) and the 25,000,000 shares in issue 129,165,000 7T ) & & &= 2024 K 2023
throughout the two years ended 30 September 2024 and 2023. F9H30H IF M F Rz 17 R% SR

25,000,000/ MEHE -

Diluted loss per share equals basic loss per share because R R 22024 K 2023F9 A30H 1+
there were no potential dilutive shares outstanding during the M NI BESEE ) 2 BITEINR
two years ended 30 September 2024 and 2023. - WEREEEEIBEGRENEER
ﬁ o
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% - S RFE
Fixtures and
equipment
BEHER
Bdi]
HK$’000
T TT
Cost RE
Balance as at 1 October 2022 12022610418 8,202
Additions NE 183
Balance as at 30 September 2023 7A2023F9H30H 8,335
Additions NE 63
__Balance as at 30 September 2024 ] M202459R30H ] 8,398
Accumulated depreciation E2ENE
Balance as at 1 October 2022 202210418 8,147
Charge for the year KEZFE 33
Balance as at 30 September 2023 7202349 A30H 8,180
Charge for the year REEGHE 56
_Balanceasat 30 September 2024 | R2024%9R30H ] 8,236
Net book value BREFE
Balance as at 30 September 2024 120249 H30H 162
Balance as at 30 September 2023 720239 H30H 155
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Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. REWHE

HK$'000
BT
Valuation at 1 October 2022 R2022F 10 A1H 2 h{E 7,285,126
Fair value changes NAEBEE (221,126)
Valuation at 30 September 2023 R2023F9H30R 2 1H1E 7,064,000
Additions B 6,068
Fair value changes NREEZS) (264,918)
Valuation at 30 September 2024 2024F9H30H 2 fh{E 6,805,150
Group
Principal investment properties Type Floor area interest
FTEREMHE A BHEE EEEE
(Sq. ft.)
(FFR)
Melbourne Plaza Commercial/retail 257,036 100%
BT EEYE S
Kimley Commercial Building Commercial/retail 49,003 100%
TAEERNE EEYE S
On Hing Mansion Shop 9B Retail 270 100%
2 B OB =8
Valuation process of the Group AEENEERE

The investment properties as at 30 September 2024 were WEWMED BB EEYE M ER R
revalued on an open market value basis by CS Surveyors BIE1TARARAR2024F9 A0 %
ANATMEEESEHGE - WEHERRE
HREEER  WHAHENEREERE
HIEE RO b BE AN B A T HAAC B - BAFT A
KEMHFEHE  EERINERASNESR
EMEEFA o

Limited, independent professional valuer who holds a
recognised professional qualification and has recent experience
in the locations and segments of the investment properties
valued. For all investment properties, their current use equates
to the highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

14.

116

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont’d)

Valuation process of the Group (cont'd)

The Group’s finance department includes a team that reviews
the valuation performed by the independent valuer for financial
reporting purposes. This team reports directly to the senior
management and the Audit Committee. Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the management and
valuer at least once every six months, in line with the Group’s
interim and annual reporting dates.

At each financial year end, the finance department verifies all
major inputs to the independent valuation report; assesses
property valuation movements when compared to the prior year
valuation report; and holds discussions with the independent
valuer.

The investment properties are commercial properties in Hong
Kong held under long leases (over 50 years).

Fair values of the investment properties are derived using
the direct comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable
properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key
attributes such as property location, time, layout, frontage and
ancillary.

As at 30 September 2024 and 2023, all investment properties
are included in level 3 fair value hierarchy.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the
year and there were no transfers between fair value hierarchy
during the year.

14.

BEME(®)
AREREERE
AEBEHE A — A ME - BERY

BIE B NEE LA EMN(AEETTR
o W MEEERSRERENEZE
EEER - RESAEENTHRNEE
HEAH - ERERGERRSERE
A& —X - SmbEREMAES

o

e

EEEVRERER  WEeRELE
MIHEREHMAERBA - FHEYME
MER FFEHERS LR TOEHL
BB A ERMETTR R ©

NREBNERREME 2 LI HEH]

AERI(FBIB50F) -

REWME 2 ARBEIVEBERLEIR
EL - AL B ENEBD T

TR (PR - S8 - IR
HR - BRSO B
[

20245 & 2023F9H30H * FTE K
EMEEHB AR THESFNFEIFR -

HEERF AR BN RN FARE
RN EFR 2 RS o
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont'd) 14. REWHE )
Valuation process of the Group (cont'd) AEENBEREE)
The most significant input into this valuation is price per square IHEZENRERBA ST HREOE
foot. Information about fair value measurement using significant & o FREARTAIBEH AN T ER
unobservable inputs: EMNEHR
Range of
Completed 2024 2023 Valuation unobservable Relationship of
properties Fair value Fairvalue  technique inputs  unobservable inputs
20245 2023%F TABE TABREHA
THZREME AREE PREE  HERN BANEE HAREENBER
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$ per square foot
BETT BT BEETAR
Melbourne Plaza 6,143,000 6,395,000  Direct Comparison Adjusted market  The higher the price, the

comparable prices higher the fair value
ranging from
18,364-65,868
(2023: 15,357-70,259),
taking into account
locations and
other individual factors
such as layout,

frontage and
conditions of
the property.
BRI BREEEE FREENEz EBEYS AAEEE

CRBULEMSERE R
17-18,364-65,868
(2023F : N
15,357-70,259) *
EREBME IR
HEthfERIEE -
iR - BAEERR
PR IEL B o
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont’d)

Valuation process of the Group (cont'd)

2024

Fair value
20245
AfEE
HK$’000
BETT

2023 Valuation
technique

Completed

properties Fair value
2023%F

RREE  HER

HK$'000

BETT

TR Z RENE

14, REWEE)

AEBWBERRE(E)

Range of
unobservable
inputs

TABE
BANEE

HKS$ per square foot
EEETHR

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
FUBERBA
HAABENEE

Kimley Commercial 650,000 655,800  Direct Comparison

Building

EU[SEIN] BERLEA

118

Adjusted market
comparable prices
ranging from
9,200-76,920
(2023: 9,248-78,566),
taking into account
locations and
other individual factors
such as layout,
frontage and
conditions of
the property.
ERBENEZ
CREALRMSER
1199,200-76,920
(2023F : N
9,248-78,566) -
ERBEANE LR
HthfERIEZ -
wmigR -~ BAEEER
RRLEL T -

The higher the price, the
higher the fair value
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont’d)

Valuation process of the Group (cont'd)

Completed
properties

TR RENE

2024

Fair value
20245
AREE
HK$’000
BETT

2023
Fair value

20234F
ARE

HK$'000
AR

Valuation
technique

fhERM

14, REWEE)

AEBWEERRE(E)

Range of
unobservable
inputs

TABE
BANEE

HKS$ per square foot
EEETHR

Relationship of

unobservable inputs

FABEBA
BAABENBR

On Hing Mansion
Shop 9B

ZEAEIBH

BEHREERAF

12,150

ZEZNFEFR

13,200

Direct Comparison

BRI

Adjusted market
comparable prices
ranging from
43,024-46,292

(2023: 44,231-52,381),

taking into account
locations and

other individual factors

such as layout,
frontage and
conditions of
the property.
ERBENEZ

RREN L RMISER

1 F43,024-46,292
(2023%F : N F
44,231-52,381) -

ERAENE HR

HifERAEZ
R FRETES R
MAEH A o

The higher the price, the

higher the fair value
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15. SUBSIDIARY 15. B AT
Details of the subsidiary as at 30 September 2024 and 2023 20244 K 2023F 9 A30H Z KB A
are set out below: CIEI=ORNE

Private company incorporated

in Hong Kong and directly Issued and paid up ordinary Equity
owned by the Company share capital holding
EEBTME Y 2 A&

BRARWHAAREEES ERTRBEZBERRKE LREE D E
lau On Company Limited HK$10,000,000 of 100,000 shares 100%
WL BRAR] 75#10,000,0007T.2 100,0008%

The subsidiary is engaged in the business of property ZBARIERBEEMERE -

investment in Hong Kong.

16. INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 16. BEFZZEZARNKRE
EQUITY METHOD
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Group’s share of net assets of investment NS BIFf {5 IR ZE A BRIVIEE
accounted for using the equity method L EEFE - -

Advance to an investment accounted for  MIZEZEABRANIRENER

using the equity method 5,569 5,561
Less: Provision for impairment losses B REEERE (5,569) (5,561)
The advance to an investment accounted for using the equity MiZEREARNIEENERL &K
method is unsecured, interest free and not repayable within 12 o TEFBREAER12EARERE -
months.

There is no investment accounted for using the equity method REBVEERNSEEEZNRERE
that is individually significant to the Group. There were no share ABRRRE - REBEWEGREREA
of revenues or profit/(loss) and other comprehensive income RRIEE 2 WSS F R, (B8 &
for the year of the investment accounted for using the equity HEm 2wk o
method.
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16. INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 16. BEREARNIKRE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (cont'd)

Details of the investment accounted for using the equity method T EANRMIRENFBOT

are set out below:

Private company

incorporated
in Hong Kong and
directly owned Issued and paid up Principal activities
by the Company ordinary share capital Equity holding (in Hong Kong)
EEBEME L 2FE
BRABMEHARDF ERTRBEEER FEEK
HEES &N HEREES =X (E&HB)
2024 2023
20245 20234
Chuen King Enterprises HK$100,000 of 50% 50% Inactive
Limited 1,000 shares
EREEARAT 7&#100,0007T,2 1,000/% W
17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 17. BREREPHNEMIA
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at fair value through LA AR EEF AEMEEKES
other comprehensive income HNEmEE 62,748 72,627
Financial assets at amortised cost REBHERAIEZEREE
Long-term receivables BRI 29,605 29,605
Trade and other debtors B 5 R HE MR 7,475 10,916
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTIFHR 265,149 254,113
Financial liabilities cRAaE
Financial liability at amortised cost REBHAARIERzSMEE
Trade creditors and deposits B RMNERE WiZE 40,408 40,378

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFEFR
I
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18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND
ADVANCES TO AN INVESTEE COMPANY

122

Financial asset at FVOCI comprises equity investment which

is not held for trading, and which the Group has irrevocably

elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category. It is an

strategic investments and the Group considers this classification

to be

more relevant.

18. UAREEFARMEEKEL
TREE

RAnBEMAELERRGENSHE
EBEIFRZMNERIE - UNAE
B 7E ¥R HERR RS L D TR R B 8

HERMPO LR -

B RREIERE -

ARSER RS BRERGE

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BT T BET T

Unlisted equity investment I LEMERRE 62,748 72,627
Advances to an investee company MR E RN RIER 29,605 29,605

Notes:

)

(i)

Financial asset at FVOCI represents 14.29% equity interest in
Billion Park Investment Limited (“Billion Park”), a private company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The principal activity of Billion Park
is to participate in Foshan International Country Club Company
Limited, a co-operative joint venture formed in the People’s
Republic of China in which the Group has an effective interest of
5%, for the construction of commercial and residential properties
and the operation of a golf course in Foshan.

As at 30 September 2024, the fair value of unlisted financial
asset at FVOCI is determined by adjusted net asset method
with reference to market value of the golf courses facilities and
related commercial and residential properties assessed by an
independent professional valuer, using direct market comparison
and residual method for respective properties.

Wi

(i)

NARBETAEMEEEENSE
BEAEEBEMBELZIALRE
IR EBR AT &) 214.29%
i BRAZEIBEBRLHERHR
XL & VR 25 L ST B L5 R
AE] - fEfRIL B R B R BRIS AR B
ZREEMFERN - AEBELEBEZE
ED SR BB EL -

R2024F9A30R » FEEHUARAME
B ARMEERENEREENR
AREEANEHEFEENEL2E]
B HELEMERERLEVENR
SREVE S BT R R BRIG Rk M ARRE 2 7
EREEMENTENLEETE -

Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND
ADVANCES TO AN INVESTEE COMPANY (cont'd)

Notes: (cont’d)

(i) The following table presents the change during the year:

18. LA REBEFAREMEEEEA

EREE®)

BaE : (4)

(i) TRETRFAHES

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BB T T
Beginning of the year F1 72,627 89,106
Changes in fair value NABEZE (9,879) (16,479)
End of the year Fix 62,748 72,627
(v)  The advances are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed terms (v EHlERWEER - T8 4B E
of repayment and not expected to be settled within 12 months. TEEGEI REBMM2EARNEE -
Their carrying amounts are not materially different from their fair =

values.

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFR
I
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19. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 19. EURBRFR - HMEYWERRR - B4

AND PREPAYMENTS BERELR
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade debtors B 5 IR 4,304 4,554
Deferred rent receivables (note) IEIE R WA & (B sE) 475 3,373
Prepayment and deposits BENREREMES 1,959 1,914
Other receivables H AR K 1,405 1,474
8,143 11,315
Represented by: HER :
Current assets mENEE 7,992 11,094
Non-current assets IEMBNEE 151 221
8,143 11,315
Note: Deferred rent receivables represent the accumulated difference Mist - EEEWAS A A K E TR
between effective rental revenue and gross invoiced amount of HEBEFENRGER - BETRE
rental. Deferred rent receivables amounted to HK$151,000 (2023: EBBERETZERBEENEE
HK$221,000) which are expected to be realised twelve months 151,0007T (2023 : 7% #221,0007T)
after the balance sheet date and are classified as non-current HIEEFEWFE £ V| VEFETRBY B E
assets.
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19. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 19. EURBRFR - HMEYWERRR - B4

AND PREPAYMENTS (cont'd)

The Group normally does not grant credit period to trade
debtors. As of 30 September 2024, trade receivables of the
Group amounting to HK$4,304,000 (2023: HK$4,554,000)
was not impaired. These relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The
ageing of the trade debtors based on invoice date is as follows:

BERANRE)

AEE-—RIELETEIBEBARGE
B o JA2024F9A30H @ REBBK
4,304,0007T (20234 : &% 4,554,000
TLONE ZRERWERR I ERE - 58
5 FEUS AR SR B %5 22 3 B SR HE R R gk 2
BURFEW - BHRUERFIREEE

REfZ BRECDATLAT -
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Within 30 days 30K 2,477 2,283
31 to 60 days 31E260K 635 969
61 to 90 days 61ZE90K 490 550
Over 90 days Q0K 702 752
4,304 4,554

At 30 September 2024 and 2023, no loss allowance was made
on the trade debtors. The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9.
No trade debtors (2023: HK$NIl) were written off for the year
ended 30 September 2024.

The other classes within debtors, other receivables, deposits
and prepayments do not contain impaired assets.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security, except
that the Group holds rental deposits from tenants for leasing of
properties.

The carrying amounts of debtors, other receivables and
deposits were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
approximate their fair values.

ERREARAR —ZE_WEFR
I

#2024 }2023F9 A30H © & 5 EU
BRI B RS - AEBERAESBE
RS ERIFESRMATNBTEA
TEEIEEEAEE - BlE2024F9H30
HIEFR » W (20234F : E)E 5 E
URBR R g o

HAHRIZINE 5 RUSR - E ek
R EfRE RIEMNRIERILERE

AEERTAEPNEBKREI - W
FrAEMERS o

R AR - AR R BENIZE
(AR ) 2 IREEABB AR R
HERRnBETEENEE -
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20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. RERBITERK
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
BT T BET T
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFERS 62,435 56,762
Time deposits TFEHIF 202,714 197,351
265,149 254,113
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances were B MRTTHERZREENEEES -

denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

21. CREDITORS, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS 21. BEAERR - BENEAREWIRE

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T T TT

Trade creditors 2 S ESIRR 1,596 1,843

Accruals and deposits &R KRB Wite 38,812 38,535

40,408 40,378

The carrying amounts of creditors, accruals and deposits were ERERR - BN EARENZE 2 BRE

denominated in Hong Kong dollars and approximate their fair BEUABBEEREEAREETESEX

values. EH o

The ageing analysis of the trade creditors based on invoice date BIEEZAEH - EHRENERZERD
is as follows: T

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T AT TT

Within 30 days 30K 1,395 1,843

More than 90 days 90K A 201 -

1,596 1,843
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22. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences
under the liability method using a taxation rate of 16.5% (2023:

16.5%).

The movements on the net deferred tax liabilities during the year

are as follows:

22, FRIEHEEE

EIEF AR B E AR Z= RN R
16.5% (20234 : 16.5% ) /ED B -

ELEHRBRBEFEZEBIT

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Accelerated tax depreciation INERFIAITE
Beginning of the year F4] 2,466 2,412
Charged to consolidated statement of iR E 2 EWER &R0 (FTEE10)
comprehensive income (note 10) 3 54
End of the year Fax 2,469 2,466
23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. |gA&
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Number of Number of

shares HK$°000
B EE BT T

shares HK$’000
f&1nER B L cmai

Ordinary shares, issued and 217 M & WA AN

fully paid:
At beginning and end of  FAFEH) N FAERS
the year 25,000,000 125,000 25,000,000 125,000
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24,

25.

128

FUTURE MINIMUM LEASE RECEIVABLE

The future aggregate minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

24,

ARREEWEE

RIS 2 BB T A R A
YT HOB AT

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Not later than 1 year M1ER 87,426 119,289
Between 1 and 2 years R1ZE2FR 29,627 49,651
Between 2 and 3 years R2E3F A 4,656 5,118
121,709 174,058

The Group’s operating leases are generally for terms of one to
three years.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, certain investment properties of the Group
were leased to related companies, which are controlled by
certain directors of the Company and/or their close family
members, at terms in accordance with the relevant tenancy
agreements. Rental and related income received from these
related companies during the year were HK$4,691,000 (2023:
HK$4,655,000).

During the year, the meal expenses for employees of
HK$246,000 (2023: HK$192,000) were paid by the Group
to a related company, Fu Hop, which is controlled by certain
directors of the Company, at mutually agreed terms.

No significant transactions have been entered with the directors
of the Company (being the key management personnel) during
the year other than the emoluments paid to them (being the key
management personnel compensation) as disclosed in note
9(a).

The advance to an investment accounted for using the equity
method is disclosed in note 16.

25.

REBRABZEEROFR—RE—

E=F-

BREALZRS

FA - AEEDEE 2 HE S RGERE
HEEREYETEREL AR - A
RElZ BN ESR SEITHK 8 EHE
BIEhE NERRLEB@EQT
WE 2 & &R & =A% 4,691,000
JL(20234F : ##4,655,0007T) °

FA - AEERESEEGRR - XHE8
TR & HLEE246,0007T (20234
7 #192,0007T) T—HIBHEEZ A
Al—Fa MARAIZBUEEEHS
PRI

BRI ARE - XN TARAE
FFRIZEEEET ) 2ME(ER
TZEEEETIM=)I  ARRIFR
W B F R EAIERR S

MRS A AR ENE RN
16 EE ©
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26. COMPANY BALANCE SHEET 26. ARIEEAEK
30 September 30 September
2024 2023
20244 20234
9HS30H 9H30H
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E BT T BT
Non-current assets FERBNEE
Property, plant and equipment R Y 162 155
Investment properties "EMHE 6,143,000 6,395,000
Investment in a subsidiary L) NG 15 10,000 10,000
Investment in an associate m—EERaZIE 50 50
Financial asset at fair value through AARBEFARMEE
other comprehensive income W o SREE 62,748 72,627
Advances to an investee company MHEIRERAIER 29,605 29,605
Deferred rent receivables ELEEWES 151 219
6,245,716 6,507,656
Current assets REEE
Debtors, other receivables, deposits ~ JEURBRFX ~ HAbEULERTR -
and prepayments BfiEE RIER 7,426 10,317
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTIER 263,815 252,945
271,241 263,262
Current liabilities REEE
Creditors, accruals and deposits JEERR - ERER K
Elilire 37,536 37,644
Amount due to a subsidiary FETBT B A RIFkIE 23,143 16,157
Provision for long service payments IR S BHE 8,674 -
Current tax payable BIHAE S HH IR 15,360 17,621
... B4TI8 71422
Netcurrentassets ~~ #g®EE®:&® 0000 186,528 191,840
Total assets less current liabilities EEZZERAEBEE 6,432,244 6,699,496
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Provision for long service payments KRR & B 3,928 15,363
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIAAE 2,469 2,466
6897 17,829
Net assets EEFHE 6,425,847 6,681,667
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26. COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (cont'd)

6. AEEEAER®E)

30 September 30 September
2024 2023
20245 20234
9H30H 9H30H
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Equity ExR

Share capital &% 125,000 125,000

Fair value through other AARBEFAEMEE
comprehensive income reserve W 62,747 72,626
Retained profits R 7 6,238,100 6,484,041
Total equity iR 6,425,847 6,681,667

Chung Yin Shu, Frederick

EEE
Director

EE

130

Chung Wai Shu, Robert
EEE
Director

-
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26. COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (cont'd) 26. ARIEEABERE)
Note: B
Reserves fts
The movements of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABIREB 2 EBOT -
Fair value

through other
comprehensive

income Retained
reserve profits Total
NAREE
STARMEE
Wz fEE RE &R zE
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
BT BT BT IT
Company AF
Balance at 30 September 2022 4202259 H30H & & 89,105 6,693,561 6,782,666
Loss for the year KEZHRF - (119,520) (119,520)
Fair value loss on financial asset AR REBE AHMEEIKEEH
at fair value through other SREEMNAAEERS
comprehensive income (16,479) - (16,479)
Total comprehensive loss for the AN 8 2 E L4858
year (16,479) (119,520) (135,999)
2022 final dividend paid 2022F R AR B - (45,000) (45,000)
2023 interim dividend paid 2023F B RH HIIR B - (45,000) (45,000)
Balance at 30 September 2023 20239 H30H &tk 72,626 6,484,041 6,556,667
Loss for the year REFE - (155,941) (155,941)
Fair value loss on financial asset AR EBEET AEM 2 E U
at fair value through other CREEMNAAEBERS
comprehensive income (9,879) - (9,879)
Total comprehensive loss for the  ARNFE & E NG HAEE
year (9,879) (155,941) (165,820)
2023 final dividend paid 2023F B R AR HAAE B - (45,000) (45,000)
2024 interim dividend paid 2024F B R HIfE B - (45,000) (45,000)
Balance at 30 September 2024 4202459301 &8 62,747 6,238,100 6,425,847
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEHMBERE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024F 20234 2022 20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT AT BETTT BETT
Investment properties, property, ~ REWE - ¥¥ -
plant and equipment 128 R AR 6,805,312 7,064,155 7,282,755 7,503,584 7,520,416
Investments accounted for using &% A ABEH
the equity method ®E - - - - -
Investment and advances REREH 92,353 102,232 118,711 127,878 115,892
Deferred rent receivables EiEREEAES 151 221 2,228 505 966
Current assets RENEE 273,141 265,207 253,877 259,219 304,295
Total assets BEHAE 7,170,957 7,431,815 7,657,571 7,891,186 7,941,569
Current liabilities MEARE (65,463) (68,653) (49,426) (66,517) (71,441)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (6,397) (17,829) (17,168) (17,135) (16,443)
Net assets BEFH 7,099,097 7,355,333 7,590,977 7,817,534 7,853,685
Share capital BRAR 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000
Investment revaluation reserve R A B RHE - - - - -
Fair value through other PARBER AR
comprehensive income reserve R EINEFEE 62,747 72,626 89,105 98,272 86,286
Retained profits REBEH 6,911,350 7,157,707 7,376,872 7,594,262 7,642,399
Total equity e 7,099,097 7,355,333 7,590,977 7,817,534 7,853,685
Revenue Yza 161,666 157,894 158,707 160,423 203,704
Operating (loss)/profit EE(B1B),/ &7 (138,498) (112,746) (109,283) 82,879 (1,159,891)
Share of results of investments ~ FE{E RIS A ABRHY
accounted for using the equity BRI
method = - - - -
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRI (BR), S H (138,498) (112,746) (109,283) 82,879 (1,159,891)
Income tax expense A (17,859) (16,419) (18,107 (16,016) (25,547)
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity %S &5 (E5E) /
holders F (156,357) (129,165  (127,390) 66,863  (1,185,438)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B ok B B B
(Loss)/earnings per share SR(EE),/ B
Basic and diluted EAXREE (6.25) (5.17) (5.10) 2.67 (47.42)
Dividends per share FERE
Interim ] 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 2.30
Final AEA 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 2.80
3.60 3.60 3.60 3.60 5.10
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